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PERFORMANCE REPORT
Foreword from the Chair and Chief Officer
The last year has been exceptional in every respect: the consequences of the Covid-19 global
pandemic extend far beyond ill-health and tragic loss of life for thousands of people.
Measures to reduce the risk of infection have denied people their livelihoods, life experiences
and the comfort of contact with family and friends. The mental and physical health impact of
Covid-19 has been worse for those who already experience inequality due to ethnicity, poverty
and poor housing. High levels of deprivation in Wakefield mean the district has suffered more
than many parts of the country and our health and care services have been extremely
challenged.
Against this backdrop, the system has responded well to meet its collective goal to protect the
most vulnerable and to prioritise health care for those with the greatest clinical need.
The effects of the pandemic on the economy and people’s well-being will be long lasting and
health and care agencies and communities will need to continue to work together to support
our recovery.
In spite of its challenges, the experience of the last year has also been affirming: it has proved
that the commitment we have had for many years in this district to partners in health and care
working together for the benefit of communities is the right approach.
Traditionally, the Wakefield health and care system has been at the forefront of driving
integration and we have a national reputation for collaboration across health and the local
authority, commissioners and providers, statutory and voluntary organisations, to help people
live longer in good health and ensure people who become ill have access to safe, effective and
joined up care.
The ambition and forward thinking of leaders in our local health and care system is epitomised
by a willingness to explore new opportunities to collaborate. This has been further consolidated
this year with an agreement to trial innovative ways of working between Wakefield Council and
the CCG from 1 April 2021, through Jo Webster’s appointment to a joint post combining the
responsibilities of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Chief Officer and the Council’s
Corporate Director for Adults and Health.
As part of the West Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership we have worked with other districts
to address broader challenges that affect people’s health, working with the Cancer Alliance to
ensure continuity of services through the pandemic and maintaining a focus on issues such
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health inequalities, ill-health prevention and climate change that will have long term benefits for
our population.
With this in mind, we are looking forward positively to changes proposed in the NHS White
Paper that will provide the legal platform for stronger collaboration.
Nationally and locally, the health and care system has been faced with difficult choices about
prioritising care to respond to urgent clinical needs. This has meant changes to the way that
people access services and has meant more people have had to wait longer for planned
hospital care.
The focus of this report is on the impact the CCG and the wider system has had on the health
and well-being of the population.
Whilst our collective ambition as a health and care system is to raise the standard of health for
everyone in our population, we have had to focus our attention this year on limiting the
negative impact of the pandemic. Below are just a few examples:
•

GP practices have offered each other mutual aid to cover staff absences and work with
our provider partners Conexus and Local Care Direct has meant that we have been able
to maintain 24/7 access to primary care services throughout the pandemic.

•

Mechanisms for GPs and hospital clinicians to communicate directly with each other to
agree a plan for individual patients has meant that people with urgent needs are seen
quickly whilst those who are waiting for planned care are better supported by their GP.
This supports improvements to patient care that we have been working to introduce for
some years, with very slow progress. However, in recent months this moved on at pace
and, in the year ending March 2021, 21,242 patients were managed in this way compared
to 11,874 in the previous year.

•

We have also worked with non-NHS providers to maintain access to diagnostics and
planned care.

•

Creation of a dedicated cancer centre at Pontefract to complement urgent cancer surgery
provision at Pinderfields General Hospital has enabled us to maintain cancer diagnostics
and treatment so that rapid changes and to prioritise services.

•

Mental ill-health has spiralled and we have introduced additional services ranging from
on-line and face to face group therapies for people with mild depression and anxiety to a
safe space for people in crisis.

•

The number of children and young people waiting for assessment and treatment for
mental health problems and autism spectrum disorders and the length of time waited has
been maintained at a lower level than the previous year.
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The CCG has been rated ‘outstanding’ by NHS England this year and achieved the highest
possible rating for public engagement. This is a testament to the dedication of our workforce
and to the organisation’s commitment to enabling staff to make a positive difference to the
health and well-being of our population.
We are proud of what the CCG has achieved with system partners, which has helped us to
respond to the worst pandemic for over 100 years and to emerge in a strong position to
address the long term impact.

Joanne Webster
Chief Officer
10 June 2021

Dr Adam Sheppard
Chair
10 June 2021
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
This section of the 2020-21 NHS Wakefield CCG annual report provides information about the
CCG, our purpose and activities and how we have performed during the year ended 31 March
2021. It also includes key risks to us being able to achieve our objectives. This section has
been reduced this year taking into consideration NHS England/Improvement’s briefing with
regards to ‘reducing the burden’. NHS England/Improvement agreed that it would be
appropriate for CCGs to submit their Annual Reports with following a light touch approach to
the performance overview section. However, some of the performance narrative has been
incorporated within the performance analysis section below.

Profile of the CCG
NHS Wakefield CCG shares the same boundaries as Wakefield Council and is responsible for
planning healthcare for the 372,000 people who are registered with the 36 GP practices in the
district.

Wakefield District is among the worst 20% of deprived areas in the country.

Health and wellbeing strategy
The CCG works as a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board in partnership with Wakefield
Council, our main providers of NHS services, South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (SWYPFT), The Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust (MYHT) and the
Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS), with other providers of health and care services,
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including voluntary sector organisations and with organisations whose services contribute to
people’s health and wellbeing, such as housing and the police.
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a three-year strategy published in 2018. The CCG’s
commissioning plans are guided by our values, the Health and Wellbeing priorities and annual
guidance issued by NHS England.

Our values
•

Being respectful and enabling trust

•

Being the best we can be

•

Working together for patients

•

Being committed to being one single inclusive team

Wakefield Health and Wellbeing Priorities

How we work
The Wakefield Integrated Care Partnership which is made up of the CCG, local authority, NHS
and voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) providers, and other organisations
whose work contributes to population well-being, such as housing supports the delivery of the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, with a focus on adults and the Children and Young People
Partnership Board leads work to improve child health.
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The CCG hosts the West Yorkshire & Harrogate Health and Care Partnership (WYHHCP) and
is an active participant, working with the other CCGs, NHS providers, local authorities and
Healthwatch from across West Yorkshire to plan healthcare where there are benefits for our
local population to services being organised across a larger geographical area.
Within the Wakefield District we have five Primary Care Networks made up of groups of GP
practices that work together to plan and deliver services to meet the needs of their registered
patients. These clinically-led networks have matured rapidly during the year and are now fully
embedded in our planning arrangements.

Financial Performance
2020/21 was the third year of a four-year Financial Recovery Plan for the CCG, with a financial
target set by NHS England/Improvement to deliver a £2.2m surplus. As a result of national
changes to the financial regime this year, the in-year target was amended, and we were
required to deliver to at least a break-even position, which we have achieved.
The CCG also achieved the four financial performance targets applied to all CCGs for
management of both revenue and capital expenditure.
The annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis as the White Paper
(working together to improve health and social care for all) foresees responsibility for
commissioning transferring to the new Integrated Care System (ICS) organisations from 1 April
2022, and for these organisations to undertake commissioning functions. This is in line with the
Department of Health and Social Care’s guidance that where the continuation of the provision
of services remain within the public sector, the accounts should be prepared on a going
concern basis. Further details are included in the Financial Summary below.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
This section of the report provides a brief overview of NHS Wakefield CCG, our priorities
during 2021/21, the challenges and risks that we faced and how we performed during the year.
The work of our system has been dominated by the need to respond to the pandemic and,
whilst the strength of partnership working has enabled us to maintain safe services throughout,
it has meant it has not been possible to maintain performance against all local and national
standards.

The Wakefield health and care system response to the Covid-19 pandemic
Vaccination
The district responded swiftly to the roll out of the national vaccination programme in autumn
2020. Five local primary care network vaccination centres are operating, as well as a mass
vaccination centre at Navigation Walk, Wakefield, and two pharmacy run sites in Pontefract
and Lupset (Wakefield). Vaccinations have also been delivered direct to staff and residents in
care homes, to housebound people in their own homes and to health care staff. By the end of
April 2021, almost 200,000 people had been vaccinated. Uptake is monitored to ensure all
sections of the community are taking up the offer of a vaccine. There has been excellent work
led by Public Health and the CCG to tackle vaccine inequality. This has prioritised those most
in need of additional targeted outreach, such as asylum seekers, homeless people, gypsies
and travellers and organised online Community Champion information sessions with
community and faith leaders, Black African, Asian and Eastern European communities, single
gender groups, outreach workers and carers. A roving vaccination team has been reaching out
to people in their own communities.
Specific work has been done to ensure access to vaccination for people with a learning
disability, including specialist advice about reasonable adjustments to the vaccination centres
and GP surgeries. Community nurses have provided reassurance to service users and their
families who have concerns. Easy read information and other guidance has been widely
distributed around networks. Messages have been sent to providers about ensuring staff
working with people with a learning disability understand the benefits of vaccination.
Test and trace
The CCG played a key part in mobilising testing facilities early in the pandemic, establishing
test centres and a booking system for people with symptoms in spring 2020.The district’s first
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static public Covid-19 testing site for people with symptoms was established in autumn 2020,
complementing temporary testing facilities which are provided at different locations around the
district. The CCG has also worked closely with public health to test people without symptoms
to manage outbreaks. Facilities for people without symptoms to book a test have now been
developed in the district and include two static units at the former Wakefield Indoor Market and
former Castleford swimming pool.
Support for vulnerable people
The CCG, local authority and voluntary sector organisations moved swiftly to put in place
support for people who were identified as being at greater risk from Covid-19, including those
who were required to shield.
This included establishing 13 community hubs across the district and writing directly to
households with information about how to get help with essentials such as food deliveries and
medication.
Health Inequalities
The CCG has a duty under Section 14T of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities.
Wakefield Integrated Care Partnership is developing a joint strategy to tackle health
inequalities. Examples of work to address the impact of Covid-19 are described below:
Community scheme donations have helped promote digital inclusion, after a survey showed
that people with disabilities and those aged 65 and over were more likely to find digital access
to services problematic.
A data driven approach has been set up to link sources of local (health and social care) data to
help identify people at greatest risk so that interventions can be more targeted. Voluntary
organisations are helping people to access support. A system-wide overview is maintained to
ensure that inequalities are not inadvertently made worse for different parts of the district.
Initiatives to reduce smoking in pregnancy are helping to improve the health of mothers and
babies by reducing low birth weight and associated complications.
The CCG and Wakefield Council are jointly funding a multi-agency ‘Time2Reflect’ voluntary
programme for vulnerable mothers to reduce the number of repeat pregnancies where
mothers have had previous children removed into care.
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Wakefield district has adopted a programme, developed in Bradford, ‘50 things to do before
you’re 5’: sharing ideas and activities targeted at families and childcare providers to foster
skills, build language and support brain development.
Wakefield Families Together has adopted an approach which involves teams of
professionals working together to support specific groups of children. This includes ‘Team
around the Young Person’ which offers co-ordinated targeted support for vulnerable young
people at risk of statutory intervention; ‘Team around the school’, which links families with
Children First Hubs, Future in Mind Partnership and 0-19 Service and ‘Team around the Early
Years’ which joins up access to support services for younger children.
Mental health & wellbeing is a priority for the children and young people’s partnership. A joint
SWYPFT and CCG lead has worked with the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
(CAMHS) to deliver significant improvements including reduced waiting lists.
Wakefield Autism Support Project (WASP) is a pilot project run by KIDS and funded by the
CCG to support families of young people who are being reviewed or are diagnosed for autism
spectrum disorders or who have other neuro-developmental conditions.
There are an estimated 23,115 new unpaid carers as a result of pandemic in Wakefield,
including many women who are already in poverty, usually younger and juggling caring
alongside paid employment. Promotional activities have been carried out aimed at encouraging
people to seek support from Carers Wakefield & District. 1,500 people who had previously
contacted the service received welfare calls. Carers Wakefield & District has been
commissioned to register unpaid carers to enable them to access priority vaccination and has
been working with Age UK Wakefield to support vulnerable people to physically attend
vaccinations.
In 2020, the district’s Housing Needs Service took 2,715 homeless applications and placed
942 new people into temporary or emergency accommodation. Wakefield Council rough
sleeper support service has received additional funding to help with finding or retaining
accommodation and a bid supported by the CCG is funding health assessments for rough
sleepers and single people in emergency accommodation.
There is a strong correlation with living in private rented accommodation (12.4% of all
households in Wakefield) and in poverty. Wakefield District Housing (WDH), a housing
provider on the Wakefield Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), established a Cash Wise team
which offers budgeting advice to all Wakefield residents through the More Money in My Pocket
and Healthier Wealthier Wakefield Families programmes.
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WDH Carelink in partnership with YAS, responds to people who suffer falls at home: 32
people who initially contacted the ambulance service after a fall at home were assessed as not
needing any medical intervention.
Wakefield hosts Urban House, regional accommodation centre for Asylum Seekers. Health
checks and access to nurse-led treatment are provided on site as well as support with basic
needs and translation services. The CCG has reviewed provision to account for people
remaining at Urban House for longer periods and to respond to an increase in the number of
asylum seekers dispersed to hotels and housing across the district.
A range of initiatives to tackle loneliness are being supported such as Age UK Cuppa Club
and social prescribing programmes run by Live Well Wakefield and Spectrum.
Care homes and home care
The nursing and care home sector plays a central role in the health and care system. A virtual
care team established by Wakefield CCG and Wakefield Council has provided additional
support to the sector throughout the pandemic.
The CCG Continuing Healthcare (CHC) Team, working with social care teams, has reorientated its work to support timely discharge of people from hospital, ensuring those with ongoing care needs are placed in an appropriate care setting or provided with a support package
at home.
All care homes have a nominated GP practice to provide telephone advice and video or face to
face consultation, where required.
A number of care homes have been supported by the CCG and Wakefield Council to secure
Care Quality Commission (CQC) approval to take patients who have tested positive for Covid19 when they are ready to leave hospital and one care home has been set up as a dedicated
‘step down’ facility for people who have tested positive for Covid-19. The Wakefield
Intermediate Care Unit (WICU) was temporarily re-purposed in autumn 2020 as a dedicated
Covid-19 unit but has now been reinstated as a non-Covid-19 step down facility to support
timely discharge of patients from hospital.
Primary Care
Triage arrangements were put in place in all practices to help manage the spread of infection.
Patients are offered telephone or video consultation if they do not need a face to face
appointment. All practices have agreed to deliver a consistent offer for patients, which includes
proactive support to care homes, palliative and end of life care, preventative screening and
immunisation, support to people with vulnerabilities including learning disability, mental health
12

and homeless patients, and ensuring patients with urgent primary care needs have access to a
same day consultation.
A number of practices have experienced problems due to staff having to self-isolate and have
been supported through mutual aid from practices within the primary care network (PCN) and
CCG staff.
GP referrals into secondary care service have been lower than in previous years. However,
primary care and secondary care clinicians have worked together to develop new ways to
manage patients with more complex needs without the need for a hospital referral: the range of
specialties where this is possible and the number of patients being managed in this way
increasing.
Arrangements are also in place for primary care to refer patients directly into clinical
assessment services to enable patients to by-pass A&E.
Hospital services
In common with hospital services across the country, the MYHT experienced a sharp increase
in activity in spring 2020 and in November 2020 and a further peak throughout January and
February 2021.
Both Pinderfields and Dewsbury Hospitals have cared for Covid-19 patients and services have
been moved within hospitals sites and extra surge beds opened up according to demand.
Pontefract Hospital has been maintained as a Covid-19 free site, providing dedicated facilities
for diagnostics and cancer treatment.
Ensuring hospital care was available for people with greatest need has depended on the whole
health and care system working together to treat people with more complex conditions in their
own homes and to support timely discharge. The wider health and care system has also
supported the hospital by redeploying workforce, including clinical staff from primary care, to
cover staff absence and administrative staff to support with discharge and family liaison.
A&E attendances reduced significantly during spring 2020 and subsequent national lockdowns but have continued to rise since February 2021 and a range of initiatives have been in
place to ensure capacity in A&E is prioritised for the most acutely ill patients whilst enabling
safe distances to be maintained. This has included targeted communications to redirect people
to other, more appropriate services.
Demand for both the Walk in Centre at Wakefield and the Urgent Treatment Centre at
Pontefract has remained well below the previous year’s levels. A pilot scheme to divert patients
arriving at A&E who could be seen elsewhere had minimal impact.
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Additional capacity for planned care has been maintained in the independent sector, including
redirecting patients to Any Qualified Providers (AQP) in the district to carry out diagnostic
procedures and to Spire Methley Park for routine surgery. The process is managed by MYHT
to ensure continuity of care for the patient.
However, delays to some routine care to prioritise beds and staff for patients with more urgent
clinical needs has been unavoidable and this has led to an increase in the number of people
waiting for treatment and the length of time waited. Staff who would usually work in operating
theatres have been moved to care for critically ill patients. Together with the need to maintain
social distancing, this has made it impossible to maintain the usual level of planned care.
A programme of work to restore services and treat people on the waiting list was put in place in
summer 2020. This programme was paused to deal with surges in demand from Covid-19
patients in autumn 2020. However, from spring 2021 the Trust has gradually reopened
theatres and surgical beds. Priority is being given to acute, urgent, trauma and sub-acute
activity and cancers with additional dedicated theatre capacity being allocated for
orthopaedics, gynaecology and ophthalmology at Pontefract.
Mental Health
The Wakefield Mental Health Alliance has worked to maintain existing services and has coordinated provision of a range of additional services to support people whose mental health
has been affected by the pandemic, including for children and young people. This has included
significant investment in voluntary and community organisations to provide support for people
experiencing mental ill health, including the opening of a ‘safe space’ to offer face to face
support for people in crisis.
During national lock down periods, mainstream services have continued with care being
offered via telephone or video where clinically suitable, with a focus on maintaining service
continuity. Non-essential group sessions were suspended but face to face appointments and
home visits were maintained.
Significant improvements have been seen in CAMHS waiting times. In some cases, waits have
reduced from 51 to five weeks.
An enhanced virtual service is now available through Turning Point Talking Therapies and this
includes an extensive menu of online workshops.
SWYPFT Patient Flow Team have managed challenging cases and admissions from the
Emergency Department (ED) successfully, without having to transfer people out of area.

14

MYHT has progressed with the development of the 0-18 Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD)
diagnosis pathway and meeting national standards for offering a first appointment and for
completing assessment within 26 weeks of referral.
Increased online therapy has been delivered via the Kooth Platform for Children and Young
People.
The perinatal service continues to provide a full service for all new referrals and existing
service users. The team has been very proactive with the alternative means of providing
support, using technology to maintain contact in addition to telephone and face to face where
this is required.
Learning disability services
The CCG has been proactive in improving services for people with a learning disability,
through participation in the Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme, which
comprehensively reviews every death of a person with a learning disability to understand their
experience of care and services over their lifetime. 20 deaths were notified to the programme
during the year. The most common confirmed cause of death was pneumonia or Covid-19 and
there was evidence in most reviews of the indirect impact of the pandemic on people’s health
and well-being, including isolation from families, and reduced face-to-face contact with health
care professionals. All 20 reviews were completed within six months of notification (in line with
national requirement) and learning from reviews has been shared with health and care
providers, GPs and local Authority colleagues through safeguarding networks and protected
learning time for General Practice Nurses.
A project, funded by the Queen’s Nursing Institute, has been established to reduce unplanned
hospital admissions with respiratory conditions as a result of the LeDeR findings. The project
focuses on training for primary care clinicians, information and care planning.
The ICP has an identified champion on the Board who is sponsoring work to improve the
quality of annual health checks. Practices have continued with annual health checks in a mixed
approach of telephone, video calls and face to face. The Strategic Health Facilitator (SHF) and
primary care manager have sent out top tips, identified practices with lower percentages and
offered individual support to reach targets. One PCN has included their care coordinators in
supporting the annual health check process. Regular meetings of the Living Well Project have
been well attended by people with a learning disability. Annual health check booklets for
everyone on the learning disability register will be shared across the PCN’s. In 2020
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Wakefield’s plan was to focus on quality of the annual health check and there is support from
the ICP for quality training of self-advocates and quality checking across Wakefield.
The Keeping Connected Project for people with Autism who have little or no formal support
started on 1 December 2020 and will run until the end of April 2021. The aim of this project
was to provide some additional support through the lockdown period to help people feel less
isolated, improve their health and wellbeing and interpret government guidance. The project
has delivered one to one sessions, social groups, wellbeing sessions and digital skills sessions
with an emphasis on signposting people to ongoing support and groups.
The partnership has developed a leaflet for family carers outlining their entitlement and
encouraging them to access a carers assessment.
Long Covid
Wakefield has received £60k for 2020/21 from a national £10m fund to establish services for
people whose long-term health has been affected by Covid-19. A full multi-disciplinary
community services to support people who have previously been treated in hospital for Covid19 and those referred by their GP was launched in April 2021.

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership (WYHHCP)
The CCG plays an active role in the WYHHCP and is contributing to the delivery of its priority
programmes. These include:
•

Collaboration across hospital services to ensure people have access to the right across
West Yorkshire services and expertise.

•

Working through the Cancer Alliance to prevent cancer, secure continuity of service and
enable the whole population to access to the best available treatments.

•

Promoting mental well-being for people and employees in the health and care sector,
working to reduce the impact of mental ill-health and suicide and fostering collaboration
between services in different areas to ensure access to specialist care.

•

Enhancing the health of mothers and children through a strategic approach to maternity
service improvement.

•

Improving children’s health and care services.

•

Promoting and rolling out digital solutions to support prevention, self-care and treatment
of ill-health.

•

Supporting the contribution of voluntary and community organisations in health and care
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•

Collaborating to tackle Health Inequalities through an academy of interested experts

•

Working to address climate change and its impact on population health.

The West Yorkshire Joint Committee of CCGs agreed that its work during the year would need
to evolve to reflect the new priorities arising from Covid-19. However, the Committee has
continued to progress a number of key programmes:
•

West Yorkshire and Harrogate (WY&H) Healthy Hearts

In 2018, the Joint Committee recommended the CCGs adopt the Healthy Hearts improvement
project, building on successful work in Bradford. The project aims to identify more people with
high blood pressure, help them to control it better and reduce the risk of heart attacks and
strokes. As a result, 22,000 more people have had their blood pressure controlled to target
numbers. WY&H Healthy Hearts won the Health Service Journal Cardiovascular Initiative of
the Year award in 2020.
•

Assessment and Treatment Units (ATUs) for people with complex learning
disabilities

The Committee supported a proposal to commission a new care model for people with a
learning disability. This involved collaborative commissioning between commissioners and
providers across the whole pathway for people with learning disabilities with the aim of
developing a single system and centre of excellence. This included engagement with people
who had accessed care in ATUs, their carers and staff.
•

Urgent and emergency care

The Committee supported a national programme which built on learning from Covid-19, to
encourage people to phone 111 as an alternative to presenting directly into EDs. The
integrated approach included options to direct people to alternative pathways, for example
GPs, pharmacists and mental health advice, following remote triage.
•

Primary medical services

The Committee considered a report on primary medical care services in West Yorkshire, which
were provided by Local Care Direct (LCD) and concluded prioritisation of the pandemic
response, changes in national policy and potential changes to the commissioner landscape
meant that there was uncertainty about what should be commissioned for the future, meant a
pragmatic approach should be taken and agreed to extend the service from LCD for three
years.
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•

Improving planned care

The Committee supported changes to the Improving Planned Care programme, which focused
on restarting planned care following the first wave of Covid-19. This included improving access
to diagnostic testing services and more shared decision making between primary and
secondary care.
•

Flash Glucose Monitoring for diabetes

The Committee approved an amendment to a WY&H policy for flash glucose monitors – small
sensors worn on the skin for monitoring the glucose levels of people with diabetes. The
amendment covered type 2 diabetes patients with learning disabilities who need to use insulin.
Self-management of diabetes by patients with learning disabilities would promote
independence and reduce health inequalities.
•

Clinical thresholds

A range of clinical threshold policies, designed to improve equality of access across WY&H
and reduce levels of surgery where non-surgical interventions could be more effective, have
been approved.
•

Stroke

In 2018, the Joint Committee agreed a common approach for commissioning hyper acute
stroke services and all stages from prevention to recovery. The specialist hyper-acute stroke
pathways are now well established, with four units providing hyper-acute care during the first
72 hours following stroke across WY&H. A sustainable stroke clinical network has been
established, working to improve quality and stroke outcomes. Priorities include preventing
strokes, delivering effective care when people have a stroke and ensuring that there is good
support and rehabilitation for people after a stroke.
•

Working better together

The Committee has led new approaches to collaborative working between commissioners and
providers. The Commissioning Futures programme was developed in collaboration with
partners across the health and care system, based on our successful model of place-based
working. This will support future ways of working following legislative changes outlined in the
NHS White Paper. Collaboration arrangements have been put in place between
commissioners and providers through the Cancer Alliance, Improving Planned Care
programme, Local Maternity System and Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism
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Alliance. The Committee also supported the Yorkshire and Humber framework for integrated
commissioning of Integrated Urgent and Emergency Care Services provided by YAS.
•

Governance

In 2020, the West Yorkshire agreed a revised Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for
Collaborative Commissioning, which included a new work plan and the delegation of new
commissioning decisions to the Joint Committee.

Performance has fluctuated during the year due to the need to prioritise services to manage
the impact of the pandemic. The chart below shows the overall performance against
constitutional standards at March 2021.
Standard

Achieved

Not achieved

Cancer Waiting Times

6

3

Mental Health Improving
Access to Psychological
Therapies

4

0

Referral to treatment

2

0

Diagnostics

0

1

The table below provides more detail on performance against national mental health access
standards and shows that performance at the end of March 2021 has been maintained and
has improved in all areas compared with April 2020 for NHS Wakefield CCG registered
patients.
Performance Standard

Target

April 2020

March 2021

Improving access to psychological
therapies (recovery)

50%

51.6%

51.2%

Improving access to psychological
therapies (access)

5%

16.4%

22.1%

Improving access to psychological
therapies

75%

100%

100%

(wait <6 weeks)
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Performance Standard
Improving access to psychological
therapies (wait <18 weeks)
Improving access to psychological
therapies (satisfaction)

Target

April 2020

March 2021

95%

100%

100%

No national
target – this is
a local
measure

94.6%

95.3%

The table below shows performance against national targets for access to urgent and planned
secondary care for physical conditions for Wakefield CCG registered patients.
Standard

Target

April 2020

March 2021

Position
against the
national
average

Urgent referral to be seen
93%
within two weeks for suspected
cancer

94.4%

96.6%

Above

Urgent referral to be seen
within 2 weeks for suspected
breast cancer

93%

97.1%

99.3%

Above

Referral to treatment within 31
days for cancer

96%

97.2%

97.1%

Above

Referral to treatment within 62
days for cancer

85%

75.7%

72.7%

Below

Referral to treatment within 18
weeks

92%

73%

74.6%

Above

Diagnostic test to be offered
within 6 weeks of referral

99%

50%

97.3%

Above

Prioritisation of urgent cancer referrals meant that the standard that people referred for an
urgent appointment within two weeks to investigate potential cancer symptoms was
maintained.
There has been a direct correlation between the number of patients being treated in hospital
for Covid-19 and deterioration in both cancer treatment and waiting times for other planned
care.
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The number of people waiting for treatment at the end of March 2021 was 25,706 compared
with 22,593 in April 2020. There were 1,358 who had been on a waiting list for more than a
year compared with a target of 0 and a total of 19 in April 2020. This makes up 5% of the total
waiting list and has been driven mainly by long waits for trauma and orthopaedics, plastic
surgery, pain and oral surgery. In some cases this has been due to patients choosing to delay
treatment due to the risk of exposure to infection. Initiatives to mitigate the impact of delays
due to prioritisation of Covid-19 patients have included development of the dedicated cancer
centre at Pontefract, increase in e-consultation between GPs and secondary care clinicians
and use of independent sector providers to increase overall capacity in the system (as
described in the earlier section of this report).
The CCG continues to work with MYHT and other providers to restore access to planned care
and this includes plans to eliminate all waits of more than 52 weeks.
The number of people experiencing delays in A&E or ambulance delays was also directly
linked to capacity issues created by Covid-19. Over the course of the year 347 people waited
more than an hour to be transferred from an ambulance into A&E.

Improving quality
CCGs have a duty under section 14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) to
improve quality. NHS Wakefield CCG has agreed a patient-centred framework for quality
improvement based on five key principles:

The CCG has a Quality Intelligence Group which includes representatives of every team within
the CCG, plus Healthwatch Wakefield and the Local Authority. The group meets monthly to
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review triangulated ‘soft’ intelligence from sources such as NHS Choices, feedback from
practices, Contact Us enquiries, media reports, staff observations (including from patient safety
walkabouts) and staff/family experiences. The key themes are then identified and actions are
agreed. A quarterly summary of the key themes and actions taken is reported to the Governing
Body.
The number of visits to patient care settings has reduced significantly due to infection
prevention requirements during the pandemic. Patient safety visits to hospital premises were
suspended during the year and a limited number of proactive Perfect Ward quality visits to care
homes have been undertaken.
The CCG has a rigorous approach to Quality and Equality Impact Assessment and all
commissioning policies and service developments are assessed for their impact on quality and
safety.
To mark World Patent Safety Day in September 2020, the quality team published a series of
blogs covering a range of topics including staff safety, kindness and civility mental well-being
and domestic abuse.
The links below can be used to look at information about how the Wakefield district performs
compared to other areas:
•

Data on specialty treatments

•

Data on services

•

Data on health & wellbeing

In 2020/21 the CQC suspended all routine inspections due to the pandemic and introduced a
transitional monitoring approach to swiftly respond to any risks to the safety of patients and
staff, and the quality of care and treatment.
None of our main NHS providers were inspected during 2020/21. One of our GP practices was
inspected in March 2021, and the outcome of this inspection is due to be published later in
2021. All other GP practices remain rated Good or Outstanding.

Reducing health inequalities
CCGs have a duty under Section 14T of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) to
have regard to the need to reduce inequalities.
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Wakefield is one of the 20% most deprived districts in England and 19.2% (12,075) of children
live in low-income families. Official statistics show that in 2019 54,200 people in the district
were living in neighbourhoods amongst the top 10% most deprived in England. This is 15.7%
of the district’s population.
Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average. It is estimated
18,000 males and 23,700 females aged 16-64 in the Wakefield district have a disability that
affects their ability to work. There are around 4,000 births a year in the Wakefield district. In
2017, 16.7% of all births were to mothers born outside of the UK.
The last Census in 2011 estimated the population, who reported as other than White British,
was around 7% (circa 25,000 people). South Asian heritage population was estimated circa
8,000. The largest ethnic minority in Wakefield is Polish (estimated at around 15,000 people).
The most common spoken languages (after English) were Polish, Urdu, Panjabi, Latvian,
Lithuanian and Kurdish at the 2011 census, more recent primary care data shows that the
highest requests for interpreting were for Arabic and Polish.
Around 200 households live in temporary accommodation in the Wakefield district.
Our Communications, Engagement and Equality Strategy outlines our commitment and
intentions to promote equality, tackle health inequalities and improve health outcomes for our
local people and communities.
The Equality Delivery System is an NHS equality framework to help organisations improve the
services we provide for our local communities, consider health inequalities in our local area
and provide better working environments free of discrimination. It is delivered in partnership
with other NHS organisation and the public.
Our Equality objectives have been developed with the local voluntary sector, staff and public
sector partners, including through the EDS2. The objectives are our equality priorities for the
next four years.
The Accessible Information Standard establishes a framework for patients and service users
(carers and parents) who have information or communication needs relating to a disability,
impairment or sensory loss, receive accessible information and communication support when
accessing NHS or adult social services.
We work to make sure all the work we do is accessible and considers the needs of our
communities and staff.
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The Workforce Race Equality Standard requires NHS organisations to demonstrate progress
against nine indicators of workforce equality for Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) staff.
It was developed in recognition of the poorer experiences of BAME staff in the NHS.
In 2020 the BAME Network was established for BAME staff employed by NHS Wakefield CCG,
those working in primary care and in the WYHHCP. Staff from the Calderdale, North Kirklees
and Greater Huddersfield CCGs joined later.
The initial aims of the CCG BAME Network are to:
•

Encourage the organisation to maintain a safe and positive working environment for
BAME staff and the elimination of racial discrimination for employees and the
population.

•

Support the organisation to develop and maintain a representative workforce with
inclusive leadership and decision-making and to raise the visibility and profile of the
contribution that BAME staff members make.

•

Establish and expand the membership of the organisation’s BAME staff network to
provide a forum where BAME staff can share experiences and issues affecting their
work and professional development.

•

Engage with other groups, including other internal and external staff networks, trade
unions, and community groups who share a common agenda or experience of
eliminating disadvantage, addressing unmet needs or increasing participation.

•

Offer support and encouragement to other underrepresented or marginalised staff
networks. Work in partnership with the organisation and the Governing Body BAME
Workforce Champion to ensure compliance with Equality and Human Rights legislation
relating to race equality and to develop and implement policies and strategy.

In 2020 we assessed the CCG against the Workforce Disability Equality Standard ahead of it
becoming mandatory. This enables us to focus on the issues for disabled staff.
The challenges faced by the community and NHS staff have highlighted how entrenched and
significant health inequalities are for our communities.
We have listened to our communities and ensured that equality was part of any significant
decisions regarding service updates and changes. An overarching Equality Impact
Assessment (EIA) was developed at the start of the outbreak and as services were updated to
respond to the pandemic, EIAs were undertaken to ensure no groups were negatively
impacted.
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The vaccination programme is subject to a full EIA and this has been developed alongside
work with the local authority. A Vaccination Inequalities Group was set up to look at increasing
uptake and reducing barriers to people accessing vaccination and the CCG and council have
been working with a group of Community Champions, funded through the WYHHCP, to work
directly with community leaders to encourage vaccine uptake.
The CCG also works with its main providers to make sure the equality agenda is delivered
where it is most needed – directly with patients and carers.
More detail on the specific work to address health inequalities is covered in the earlier section
on the system response to the pandemic.
Our annual report showing how we have delivered the Public Sector Equality Duty is published
on our website.

Engaging people and communities
The CCG has a duty under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 2012) to involve
the public in decisions about the commissioning of health services. The CCG received the
highest possible rating in the NHS England annual assessment. Continuing to seek views from
the public and act on feedback has remained a priority during the pandemic.
The following work has been undertaken:
•

Patient and community panel

The CCG has strengthened its arrangements for the Governing Body to receive advice and
assurance on issues relating to public involvement and equality and diversity through the
creation of the Patient and Community Panel. The Patient and Community Panel bring
together the membership of the Public Involvement and Patient Experience Committee and the
Equality Health Panel. The new Patient and Community Panel has continued to meet regularly
throughout the pandemic via video link to receive an update on key services issues, including
the system Covid-19 response, and to consider findings from patient engagement activity and
equality impact assessments. In March 2021, the panel was formally established as a
Committee of the Governing Body.
The district has also been supported to establish a panel of Community Champions, which
brings together representatives of the diversity of the community with a specific focus on
supporting the vaccine programme roll out and identifying ways to maximise uptake.
Engagement activities during the last year have included:
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•

Primary Care

A six-week engagement was launched in July 2020 to find out about people’s experience of
using primary care during the pandemic. The survey attracted 3,972 responses from people
registered with practices in the Wakefield district. Of those 39% had contacted the GP to
request a prescription, 38% for an urgent appointment, 32% for a non-urgent appointment and
11% for a follow up appointment.
Feedback regarding the triage system was generally positive with 64% of people saying
everything worked well.
The survey identified that digital technology was more likely to be problematic for disabled
people and those aged over 65 years. Problems included having access to the internet,
smartphones or tablets and lack of familiarity with digital communications.
Only 9% of respondents had used video consultation but of those who had, feedback was
generally positive. 12% of respondents had used on-line consultations: two-thirds (66%) said it
worked well and was easy to use, and two in five (42%) said it saved time and was convenient.
A further 41% said they had received a quick reply. Of those who had not used online
consultation almost four in five (78%) respondents said they did not know that their practice
had online consultation and 14% said they preferred to get health advice another way.
Preferences for the type of consultation varied according to the reason people were seeking
help with more people favouring remote consultation for follow up care.
When asked how easy it was to get an appointment, seven in ten (69%) said it was easy (29%
quite easy and 40% very easy). Almost one in five (18%) respondents said it was difficult to get
an appointment (9% quite difficult and 9% very difficult).
When asked about changes to respond to Covid-19, 34% thought use of telephone
consultation was a positive improvement and 16% thought use of video consultations was
positive. 11% said they would prefer to go back to the old system. 7% said they had found it
difficult to get an appointment.
The findings helped inform the development of a consistent offer from all practices and will
help shape the future model of primary care services.
•

Survey of people attending A&E

Engagement ran carried out in autumn 2020 on all three sites of the MYHT to identify why
people were choosing to attend A&E in preference to other services. 154 questionnaires were
completed.
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The most common reason, given by one in five (19%) respondents was attending because of
broken bones/dislocated or hurt joint, followed by one in seven (15%) who said sprain or injury
to ligaments. Cuts and wounds were highlighted by 7% of respondents. Gastrointestinal
conditions were highlighted by 6% of respondents.
29% reported having had the problem for less than 12 hours but the remainder had the
condition for more than 12 hours and 5% presented with a problem they had for more than
three months. Half of people said they chose A&E because the problem was getting worse and
40% said they had been told to go to A&E. 48% had sought advice from another service first.
Of those 61% said they had seen their GP previously and 39% said they had called 111. Only
3% said they chose A&E because they didn’t know where else to go and only 2% said they
chose A&E because it was the evening or weekend.
The findings have helped inform the development of the consistent offer from primary care to
simplify access as well as supporting information campaigns via social and news media to
encourage appropriate use of A&E. A pilot project to re-direct people with minor conditions to
alternative services was also launched in December 2020 and was evaluated, including
seeking feedback from patients.
•

Maternity services

A survey of patient experience of using maternity services found that the majority of women
were satisfied with their care (between 67-87% were satisfied with each element of care). The
lowest satisfaction score was for virtual appointments.
Women acknowledge the challenges of the pandemic for everyone including families, health
professionals and services; some explicitly expressed gratitude and being thankful for care
provided and there was considerable positive feedback about the staff in general.
However, restrictions relating to partners and other family members were a major area of
concern, this was commented on in relation to every element of care, in particular ultrasound
appointments and postnatal care.
Women also wanted more contact and for more of the contact to be face-to-face and felt the
altered care/restrictions in response to the pandemic as well as the pandemic itself having an
impact on their emotional and psychological wellbeing. Women from BAME communities were
less satisfied with the care they received than other women.
The findings were considered by the Maternity Voices Partnership and helped the Trust to
consider ways of minimising restrictions on partners attending appointments and at the birth.
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•

Healthwatch survey

A survey commissioned from Healthwatch Wakefield to assess people’s experience of health
services during the pandemic received 400 responses followed up with detailed focus groups.
77% of respondents had used GP services. Of the 80% who had used telephone consultation,
83% had a GP consultation over the telephone. 52% were happy with the consultation and
19% were somewhat happy. Of those who were unhappy the reasons cited included a
preference for face to face, wanting to be examined or offered tests, not being offered an
appointment slot, feeling rushed and difficulties for deaf or hearing impaired people or those
who need an interpreter.
72% or respondents said yes (42.6%) or maybe (32.2%) when asked if they would choose a
telephone consultation in future.
Only 16% had experienced a video consultation. 85% were happy or somewhat happy with the
video consultation. Difficulties with the technology were the main reason for dissatisfaction.
70% said yes (37%) or maybe (33%) they would consider a video consultation in future.
The Healthwatch survey also sought views about the experience of maintaining contact with
friends and family in hospitals and care homes when visiting was suspended.
The findings have been fed back regularly to the ICP and will continue to inform arrangements
for the restoration of services.
All patient feedback, including information obtained from complaints and the CCG’s ‘contact us’
telephone/email is collated and considered by to the Quality Intelligence Group to inform the
design of services.
Our latest annual report on patient and public involvement is published on our website.

Sustainability
The CCG is signed up to the NHS England commitment to sustainable development
management plan.
The CCG is committed to act as an exemplar in the system as a carer friendly workplace. A
network for working carers has been established and a policy has been to support staff to fulfil
caring responsibilities.
The CCG’s commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) in the services we
commission is described above. As an employer, we have a strong ethos of equality and
inclusion, underpinned by policies and training relating to recruitment, retention and career
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progression. During 2020/21, a network for staff from BAME groups was established to support
the CCG in its ambitions.
The CCG has used its apprenticeship levy to offer opportunities for people to gain work
experience leading to employment and offers other volunteering opportunities.
The CCG has a strong commitment to employee well-being, underpinned by a comprehensive
programme and regular communication campaigns to foster well-being. Proactive support for
mental wellbeing of employees has been enhanced during this year in response to Covid-19
both through proactive approaches to encouraging existing staff to look after their mental
health and manage stress and through access to a wide range of support, including Mental
Health First Aiders within the workforce. The CCG encourages job applications from people
with mental health issues and mental health is covered in training for line managers and
recruitment and selection.
The CCG has switched to a model of almost all staff working from home as part of its response
to the pandemic. Staff have been supported by access to equipment and all staff have
participated in a personal risk assessment of their working environment and working pattern.
Throughout this time, there have been discussions with staff about introducing a hybrid model
of working based on trust and outputs as easing of lockdown reintroduces opportunities for
people to work collaboratively and this will come into effect in summer 2021.
A programme of work to support the organisation to reduce its negative impact on the
environment has been led through the CCG’s staff engagement group, in support of the NHS
Carbon Reduction strategy. This has included reducing use of plastic and sourcing more
sustainable supplies.
During 2020, all lighting in the headquarters building has been replaced with LED lamps. The
switch to working from home during the pandemic has significantly reduced the organisation’s
environmental impact, with major reductions in utilities, printing and stationary supplies as well
as reducing the impact of staff travelling to work and to attend meetings. In total, working
business travel was reduced by 107,207.67 miles in 2020/21 compared with the previous year
– a saving equivalent to 30 tonnes of CO2. The CCG is exploring with its staff how the benefits
of agile working can become embedded in future ways of working, so that staff only travel
where it improves productivity or collaboration.
The CCG is signed up to the WYHHCP climate change strategy which recognises that
environmental quality is a health issue. This work focuses on two main themes:
1. A healthy, equitable and environmentally sustainable society.
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2. Reduce impact of residual healthcare via a high quality, equitable and environmentally
sustainable health and care system.
Within these themes are pieces of work on transport and air quality, housing, health
inequalities, inclusive and green economy, insight and analysis (metrics), estates (buildings,
energy, waste), travel (staff, patients, visitors, business), technology and innovation, clinical
care (including anaesthetic gases, inhalers and green social prescribing), engaging the whole
workforce, and social care.
Key risks for the CCG
The CCG has a systematic approach to reviewing risks. The latest full review, undertaken in
January 2021 identified 53 risks, of which 26 were risks associated with managing the Covid19 pandemic.
New risks added to the risk register during the last full cycle were:
•

Covid-19 vaccination programme.

•

Repatriation of children and young people from out of area placement.

•

Provision of care for patients with ‘long Covid’.

•

Confidential data breaches due to email errors.

•

Community and crisis mental health services.

Three risks were identified as critical (scoring 25-20 following assessment of the likelihood of
the risk occurring and its potential impact). All three related to the risk of meeting waiting time
targets due to the need to prioritise workforce and bed capacity to manage Covid-19 patients.
There were nine risks identified as serious (scoring 16 or 15), which related to:
•

Increased demand for mental health services.

•

Reduced capacity amongst care providers (domiciliary care, care homes and hospices).

•

CHC staff resilience impacting on the ability to carry out new assessments and the
provision of appropriately funded placements.

•

Provision of complex care packages in care homes.

•

Provision of secondary care services.

•

Attendance at A&E departments.

•

Covid-19 Vaccination programme.

•

Diagnostic six week wait performance.

•

Prescribing budget overspend.
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An audit of Covid-19 Risk Management Governance carried out by Internal Audit was issued in
January 2021 and provided a finding of Significant Assurance. A deep dive into entries on the
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) was recommended.

Staff engagement
The CCG, through the Staff Engagement Group, has maintained a strong focus on workforce
well-being, recognising the particular challenges posed by many staff being redeployed to
support the wider system during the pandemic and of a move to remote working for the
majority of the workforce.
A core team of Workforce Behaviour Ambassadors have led work to promote a positive culture
and have provided support to teams and individuals and staff have access to Mental Health
First Aiders to provide support and signposting.
The impact of this work is evident in the annual staff survey results, which show improvements
on previous years’ performance and in relation to other organisations. A summary is provided
in the table below, together with areas where the CCG will continue to focus its improvement
efforts.
IMPROVEMENTS
Area

National
Average
49%
(yes, definitely)

48%

2020
Result
96%
(59% yes,
definitely,
37% yes, to
some extent)
70%

Senior managers act on staff feedback

43%

62%

51%

Organisation values my work

59%

71%

57%

Recommend the organisation as a

62%

72%

71%

79%

83%

71%

Recognition received for good work

69%

79%

71%

Support received from immediate

76%

83%

79%

Organisation takes positive action on

2019
Result
94%

health and wellbeing

Communication between senior

59%

management and staff is effective

place to work
Often meet to discuss the team’s
effectiveness

manager
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IMPROVEMENTS
Area

2019
Result
79%

2020
Result
83%

National
Average
83%

74%

85%

82%

Look forward to going to work

65%

71%

57%

Involved in deciding on changes

66%

71%

60%

2019
Result
16%

2020
Result
11%

National
Average
11%

22%

13%

12%

79%

77%

74%

Have unrealistic time pressures

23%

28%

24%

Working additional hours

66%

71%

73%

Felt unwell as a result of work related

37%

36%

37%

Have a comfortable work space

76%

75%

Not Reported

Experienced musculoskeletal problems

25%

31%

28%

21%

27%

15%

Manager values my work
Opportunities for flexible working
patterns

introduced that affect work area
The table below shows areas for development.
AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT
Area
Experienced harassment, bullying or
abuse at work from managers
Experienced harassment, bullying or
abuse at work from employees
Know what their work responsibilities
are

stress

(MSK) as a result of work activities
Felt pressure from manager to come to
work despite not feeling well enough to
perform duties

An annual staff awards ‘New Year’s Honours’ event, which was postponed in summer 2020,
was held virtually in January 2021.
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Financial Summary
In our report last year, we talked about maintaining relationships with key providers as being
critical to delivering our financial plans and living within our means. It has been even more
important this year, with the NHS implementing temporary finance arrangements during the
year to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic. The strength of relationships with our key providers
including MYHT, SWYPFT, YAS, primary care providers and non-NHS providers has enabled
us to respond to the financial challenges this presented.
In support of our strategic objectives and financial sustainability, we have continued to engage,
influence, and provide leadership in the WY&H ICS and the wider Yorkshire and Humber
footprint. In the second half of the year, NHS financial envelopes were provided and monitored
at a WY&H ICS level, as well as at individual organisational level. As the lead CCG for the
WY&H ICS, we worked collaboratively with NHS organisations to distribute and manage
system funds.
We have continued to develop the way in which we work in partnership with Wakefield Council
to ensure that we manage resources across organisational boundaries for the benefits of our
population.
This year proved to be very challenging for our staff, providers, and systems with considerable
changes to facilities, how services are provided and the rapid implementation of digital
solutions. In addition to this, we supported the roll out of the Covid-19 vaccination programme
and set up local Covid-19 vaccination centres.
Despite these challenges, we are pleased to be able to report that we delivered a small surplus
of £0.2m. The Governing Body, its clinicians, lay members, specialists and executives, along
with the organisation as a whole, has ensured that the system response to the Covid-19
pandemic has been appropriately resourced as well as ensuring a continued focus to improve
the health of our population and patients, and reducing health inequalities.
We received allocations of £893m (2019/20: £643m). As the lead CCG for the WY&H ICS, we
received system level funding in the second half of the financial year; this amounted to £240m
and we distributed this to West Yorkshire NHS providers. The national financial framework set
by NHS England/Improvement in the first half of the financial year was based on a principle
that each NHS organisation would be reimbursed for reasonable and additional Covid-19 costs
(in effect ensuing that each organisation would be considered as delivering a break-even
position). The national framework was amended for the second half of the financial year, and
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instead a “system envelope” was set for the WY&H ICS, of which part was distributed to NHS
Wakefield CCG.
The CCG’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the CCG annual
reporting guidance 2020/21, as issued by NHS England/Improvement. The accounting
policies contained in that guidance follow International Financial Reporting Standards as
determined by HM Treasury, and as advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.
The full details of the accounting policies adopted by the CCG are included in our audited
accounts.
The summary financial statements within the Annual Report reflect the financial
performance of the CCG’s activities and achievement of its financial performance targets
for the year ended 31 March 2021.
The CCG’s financial performance against key duties is as follows:
Performance Target

Status

Expenditure not to exceed income

Achieved

Capital resource user on specified matter(s) does not exceed the

Achieved

amount specified
Revenue resources does not exceed the amount specified

Achieved

Revenue administration does not exceed the amount specified

Achieved

Expenditure 2020/21
Total programme expenditure in-year was £886m. The chart below details the split by
category of expenditure.

Hospital 57%
Ambulance 4%
CHC 4%
Primary Care 8%
Community 6%
MH 11%
Prescribing 8%
Other 3%
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The CCG has deployed its resources in 2020/21 to best meet the challenges from the
pandemic, in line with the national NHS response and priorities. Additional resources have
been made available to the NHS, and the CCG have committed additional expenditure across
a range of services as detailed below:
£m
Acute services
1.1
Mental Health
0.3
Hospital discharge programme
7.4
Primary care/Co-commissioning 3.5
Other
0.3
WY&H ICS
0.8
Total
13.4
Our annual report records our achievements in the past year as well as our arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Our continued focus on ensuring best value
across the board will sharpen even further in future years as we aim to recover our services
after the impact of Covid-19.
The annual governance statement describes how the CCG risk management and assurance
processes aim to secure excellence in governance with no significant gaps in controls or
assurances. A full copy of the annual governance statement is publicly available within the full
annual accounts.
During 2020/21 the CCG has continued to operate a risk management system including a
GBAF and corporate risk register. Financial stability, stewardship and probity are integral to the
work of the Governing Body.
The CCG fulfils the NHS England criteria for financial leadership and an internal audit carried
out during 2020/21 gave an opinion of high assurance on financial controls. There is strong
clinical representation on the Finance Committee. The Clinical Cabinet, which is a Board
committee, provides robust assessment of the quality and performance impact of financial
plans. The CCG has performed in line with its in-year financial plan and the Governing Body
has been involved in understanding the impact for future years.
Staff are also regularly briefed on the financial position and managers and staff understand the
controls in place to maintain a strong financial position, including budget management controls,
savings plans and vacancy control systems.
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Joanne Webster
Accountable Officer
10 June 2021
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
This section has three components:
Corporate Governance Report including:
• Members Report
• Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
• Governance Statement
Remunerations and Staff Report
• Remuneration
• Staff Report
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Joanne Webster
Accountable Officer
10 June 2021
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Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
NHS Wakefield CCG is a clinically led member organisation. This means that GPs
make decisions about local health services by using their local knowledge to improve
services and focus resources where there is greatest need. The CCG is made up of
36 GP practices. The membership is represented by a Governing Body of local GPs,
a nurse representative, a secondary care doctor and lay members, supported by our
executive team.

Our 36 GP practices are currently organised into seven Primary Care Networks (see
below). These networks have supported a more proactive, personalised, coordinated
and integrated approach to health and social care. The main aim of the networks
was to provide a route through which Wakefield CCG can commission services,
ensuring that they more responsive to local need.

The Governing Body is chaired by Dr Adam Sheppard, a GP at Lupset Surgery,
Wakefield, and Joanne Webster is the Accountable Officer. Our Governing Body
members have specific areas of responsibility and sit on various committees of the
Governing Body. The Members exercise their constitutional rights in respect of the
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CCG through the annual membership meetings at which each Member practice has
a representative.
Our Governing Body meets in public quarterly, and we encourage our community to
join us to find out about the work we are doing. Details of public governing body
meetings and meeting papers are published on the CCG’s website: Governing Body
papers.

Member profiles
During 2020/21 the following individuals served on our Governing Body and
remained in post throughout the year (except where indicated – no date indicates
that the Member was in post the full financial year) and up to the signing of this
annual report and accounts:

Andrew Balchin

Governing Body member from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020.
Andrew Balchin started his local government career in 1988 and has undertaken a
variety of roles including policy development, strategic housing and environmental
services. Andrew was responsible for adult social care, commissioning, public
health, communities and partnership working. Andrew also sat on Wakefield’s Health
and Wellbeing Board.
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Suzannah Cookson

Suzannah has been in post as Executive Chief Nurse since September 2018 and
has over 35 years’ clinical experience in the NHS, working across acute, community
and primary care settings. She has extensive and varied experience in nursing and
midwifery leadership roles, valuing people and their right to quality, safe and
effective experience of care.
Suzannah is motivated by working with people and partnerships, valuing
relationships to achieve good outcomes for patients and public. She gives her best
leading change through people, showing compassion and kindness and harnessing
a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary approach to system change, to transform and
improve the health and wellbeing of people in our local communities.

Dr Deborah Hallott

Dr Hallott has worked as a GP for 27 years in Wakefield, the last 24 of those as a
partner at New Southgate Surgery. In addition to general practice, she has a specific
interest in women's health and is an honorary lecturer with Leeds University Medical
School, currently offering general practice placements for third year medical
students.
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Diane Hampshire

Diane Hampshire qualified as a nurse at Dewsbury Hospital in 1981 and has worked
in general nursing, midwifery and health visiting. She has a Masters’ Degree in Child
Welfare and Law and has a keen interest in safeguarding children and adults and
quality of care. Diane was Director of Nursing and Quality for NHS Leeds West CCG
from 2012 until she retired in September 2015. Since then, she has worked as an
independent nurse on two clinical commissioning groups and undertaken a number
of projects as an independent safeguarding consultant. She is currently the Interim
Chair of the Wakefield District Safeguarding Adults Board. During the pandemic she
has been working with Wakefield CCG primary care team as the strategic lead nurse
on a number of Covid-19 related projects.
Stephen Hardy

Stephen Hardy has been a journalist and public relations practitioner for almost 40
years, latterly as Media and Public Relations Manager and Consultation/Public
Engagement Co-ordinator for West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority. He has
been closely involved with the NHS locally since the mid-1970s, being a former ViceChair of Wakefield West Primary Care Trust (PCT) and a complaints conciliator for
Kirklees and Wakefield. He is a member of the WY&H Joint Committee of CCGs. He
takes a particular interest in patient/carer issues, audit and governance.
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Dr Clive Harries

Dr Harries joined Chapelthorpe Medical Centre, Wakefield in 1999. He has been a
GP trainer, sits as a GP member on the CCG’s Governing Body and is the CCG’s
clinical lead for planned care. He is also the CCG’s Caldicott Guardian. He is
particularly interested in commissioning high quality, accessible, integrated and
sustainable health care that has been co-produced collaboratively across primary
and secondary care in a clinically led and patient centred way.

Anna Hartley

Having qualified as a Public Health Consultant in 2013, Anna has a specific interest
in health and social care integration and evaluation. As well as her public health
duties, she has also taken a lead role for adult social care commissioning since
November 2016. Previously Anna has worked at the West Yorkshire Police,
Department of Health, NHS Leeds and in the voluntary sector. Anna is really
interested in what ‘gives people a good life’ and what role the statutory sector can
play in making that happen. She is motivated by looking at how organisations can
work differently in order to deliver better outcomes for the people they serve.
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Richard Hindley

Richard Hindley has a background in the NHS, social care and the third sector. He
currently serves in a senior leadership capacity as Academic Director at Cliff
College, a specialist higher education provider. He provides consultancy to third
sector organisations and is chair of an international charity. He was previously Chief
Executive of South Yorkshire Funding Advice Bureau and has been on the boards of
several third sector organisations. He chairs the Primary Care Commissioning
Committee, the Quality, Performance and Governance Committee, and the Finance
Committee and he is a member of the Audit Committee.

Dr Pravin Jayakumar

Dr Jayakumar has been a GP in Wakefield since 2008 having undergone and
completed his training in the area. He is one of the senior GPs at Trinity Medical
Centre, Wakefield, and a Clinical Co-Director of one of the Primary Care Networks in
Wakefield. He leads on Integration and Primary Care within the CCG and has a
genuine passion for improving this for the population of Wakefield, as well as
improving the working lives of those he represents.
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Mr Hany Lotfallah

Hany Lotfallah became a Governing Body member in October 2012. He has worked
as a consultant obstetrician & gynaecologist at Rotherham Foundation Trust since
2004. He is the lead for minimal access surgery in gynaecology at Rotherham. The
unit is an accredited centre by the British Society of Gynaecology Endoscopy for
treatment of severe endometriosis patients. He is also the clinical lead for
gynaecological cancer MDT.
In his role at Rotherham Foundation Trust, Hany has held various medical
management positions, including Foundation Programme Director (October 2006 –
September 2009), Chairman of Hospital Medical Committee (January 2009 –
February 2012), and Trust Director of Clinical Effectiveness (October 2009 –
September 2012) and Clinical Director of Gynaecology and Sexual Health’ at
Rotherham Foundation Trust (June 2014 – November 2019).

Dr Adam Sheppard

Dr Sheppard qualified as a doctor in 1987 and practices as a GP at Lupset Health
Centre, Wakefield. He is the clinical lead for Wakefield CCG on urgent care. Dr
Sheppard is also the Chair for WYHHCP Urgent and Emergency Care Programme
Board (UECPB). The UECPB was established to co-ordinate the way in which the
NHS works with key partners, including hospitals, councils and the ambulance
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service, to meets the urgent and emergency care needs of people living across the
area.
Richard Watkinson

Richard Watkinson is a qualified accountant who has worked in a wide range of
organisations during his career from large Public Limited Companies to owner
managed small to medium sized enterprises, public sector and local charities. Since
2011 he has worked as a Senior Lecturer at Sheffield Hallam University teaching
within the Business School undergraduate, post graduate and professional level.

Jonathan Webb

Jonathan Webb is a qualified accountant with nearly 30 years NHS experience and
has been Chief Finance Officer at NHS Wakefield CCG since May 2018. He also
took on the role of Deputy Chief Officer from October 2019. He has held a number of
senior finance roles in acute hospitals, community services, mental health & learning
disabilities as well in NHS England working at a national and regional level. He is
also the lead Director of Finance for the WY&H ICS.
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Jo Webster

Jo Webster has been Chief Officer of NHS Wakefield CCG since it was established
in 2013. In April 2021 Jo Webster was appointed Corporate Director for Adult
Services alongside her CCG Chief Officer role.
Her 25-year career in health and care has been characterised by a commitment to
promoting collaborative approaches to improve population health outcomes.
As Chief Officer of NHS Wakefield CCG, she is accountable for planning and
commissioning health services for Wakefield, including mental health, learning
disability, prevention, primary, community and secondary care services, overseeing
a financial allocation of more than £500 million per year. The CCG is rated
‘Outstanding’ by NHS England.
In January 2018, Jo also became Strategic Lead for Health and Care Transformation
and Integration for Wakefield Council, forging a new leadership role with overall
responsibility for integrating health and care commissioning for the whole of the
district.
Jo is the lead CEO for commissioners and a member of the Executive Leadership
Group of the WYHHCP, the ICS which brings together all local authorities, NHS
commissioners and providers to transform and improve services for the 2.6million
people living in this large area. As such she has been instrumental in amalgamating
commissioning organisations into the strategic planning function. Jo also undertakes
the senior responsible officer role on a number of transformation programmes across
West Yorkshire.
Through these combined roles, Jo has led the Wakefield system to secure a strong
reputation for integration to improve population health and deliver better outcomes
by participation in national programmes. She has mobilised partners in statutory and
voluntary organisations to work together to address the underlying causes of ill
health, delivering successful programmes to enable people to live longer in good
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health. The system has also successfully implemented New Models of Care
concepts, securing significant investment which placed Wakefield at the leading
edge of new ways of working.
She previously worked for Wakefield PCT from 2009, latterly as Director of Strategic
Commissioning. Before moving to Wakefield, she worked at Doncaster Central PCT
leading major service reconfigurations and transformational change programmes.
Other leadership roles include working at Yorkshire and the Humber Strategic Health
Authority, leading Cancer Reform and supporting World Class Commissioning.
Since April 2020, Jo has also been responsible for co-ordinating the Covid-19
response on behalf of Wakefield CCG.

Member practices
The CCG is a membership organisation comprised of 36 GP member practices
across Wakefield District. The table below shows the CCG’s member practices by
Primary Care Home Configuration for 2020/21:

PCH NAME

WAKEFIELD
HEALTH
ALLIANCE
NORTH

PRACTICE
MEMBERS

Henry Moore
Clinic
Riverside MC
St Thomas
Road
Station Lane
MC
Newland Lane
Surgery
Tieve Tara MC

POPULATI
ON SIZE (at
04/03/19)
PROVISIO
NAL
PRIORITIE
S

WAKEFI
ELD
HEALTH
ALLIAN
CE
CENTRA
L
Stuart
Road
MC
Friarwoo
d MC
Northgat
e MC
Ashgrov
e MC

WAKEFI
ELD
HEALTH
ALLIAN
CE
SOUTH

BRIGANTE
S

FIVE
TOWNS

TRINITY
HEALTH
GROUP

WEST
WAKEFIE
LD

College
Lane MC
Dr Diggle
& Phillips
Park
Green
Surgery
The
Grange
MC
White
Rose MC

New
Southgate
Surgery
Alverthorpe
Surgery
Stanley
Health
Centre
Outwood
Park
Homestead
Clinic
Eastmoor
Health
Centre

Patience
Lane
Surgery
Kings
Medical
Practice
Park View
Surgery
Queen
Street
Surgery
Health Care
First
Partnership
Castleford
MC

Crofton &
Sharlston
Surgery
Maybush
MC
Warrengate
MC
Trinity
Health
Group

Orchard
Croft MC
Ossett
Surgery
Middlestow
n MC
Chapelthor
pe MC
Lupset MC

44,724

46,600

61,749

44,642

55,639

55,665

68,272

Mental Health:
Depression
(Low Level)

Mental
Health:
Depressi
on (IAPT
LTC)

Mental
Health Depressi
on
(Low
Level)

Improving
Mental
Health in
the PCH
population

Mental
Health:
Depression

Smoking

Prevention
of ill health
(metabolic
syndrome)

COPD (identify
specific cohort)
Excess
Weight/PreDiabetes

COPD or
Cancer

COPD or
Cancer
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Improving
MSK
symptoms

Weight
Management

Pre-Diabetes
COPD

Social
Prescribing

Mental
Health &
Self Care /
Personalis
ation

Excess
Weight/
PreDiabetes
(Adult or
Children)

Excess
Weight/P
reDiabetes

in the PCH
population
Obesity

Working
with Care
Homes &
Community
Nursing
(Low Level)

Composition of Governing Body
The CCG’s membership has delegated authority to the Governing Body to oversee
the work of the organisation and make decisions on its behalf as set out in the
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation incorporated in the CCG’s Constitution (see
Governance Statement). The members of the CCG’s Governing Body are described
in the Governance Statement.
Details of the Governing Body and Committee membership and attendance
throughout the year can also be found in the Governance Statement and in the
Remuneration and Staff Report. Their profiles have been set out above.

Committee(s), including Audit Committee
The Governing Body has five directly reporting committees and two groups as
follows:
•

Primary Care Commissioning Committee

•

Audit Committee

•

Remuneration Committee

•

Quality Performance and Governance Committee

•

Connecting Care Executive

•

Patient Engagement, Experience and Equality Committee (with effect from
March 2021 to be known as Patient & Community Panel)

•

Clinical Strategy Group

•

Nominations Committee

Highlights from each of the Committees are detailed in the Governance Statement.
The Audit Committee provides the Board with an independent and objective view of
the CCG’s system of internal control for financial governance, corporate governance
and clinical governance. The Audit Committee is chaired by Richard Watkinson, lay
member of the Board with responsibility for audit and conflict of interest matters. The
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other members are Richard Hindley, lay member (Deputy Chair of the Governing
Body) and a clinical member of the Governing Body. There are two clinical members
of the Audit Committee Dr Clive Harries and Dr Deborah Hallott. Only one clinical
member needs to attend. In attendance at each meeting is the CCG Chief Finance
Officer as well as representatives from internal audit, external audit and counter
fraud. Any director or senior manager may be invited to attend, particularly when the
Committee is discussing areas of risk or operation that are the responsibility of that
director. The Chief Officer will be invited to attend at least one meeting each year in
order to discuss the process for assurance that supports the annual governance
statement. Other officers may be requested to attend in an advisory capacity.
The work of the Audit Committee includes ensuring that there is an effective internal
audit function; reviewing the work and findings of the external auditors; ensuring that
the CCG has adequate arrangements in place for countering fraud; monitoring the
integrity of the financial statements of the CCG; and overseeing risk management
and information governance arrangements. Details of the membership of all
committees are included in the governance statement. Details of the membership of
the Remuneration Committee are also included in the remuneration report.

Register of Interests
Statutory guidance on managing conflicts of Interest is available for CCGs: NHS
England Conflicts of Interest Guidance.
NHS Wakefield CCG wishes to ensure that decisions made by the CCG are taken
and seen to be taken without any possibility of the influence of external or private
interest. The CCG has therefore put arrangements in place to ensure that conflicts of
interest are appropriately managed with transparency and proportionality. We have a
number of systems and processes in place to manage conflicts of interests. These
are set out in our Constitution and our Policy on the Management of Conflicts of
Interest. This register is reviewed by the CCG Board and Audit Committee. All Board
members, committee members, employees and member practices are asked to
complete a declaration of interest form to identify any potential conflicts of interest.
CCG Board members are also asked to declare any conflicts of interest with regards
to agenda items at each Board and committee meeting. The CCG register of
interests can be viewed at: Conflicts of Interest Register
Further information on our management of conflicts of interest is contained in the
governance statement.
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Personal data related incidents
During 2020-21 there was one personal data-related incident that met the threshold
for reporting to the Information Commissioners Office as a serious personal data
breach requiring investigation, based on context, scale and sensitivity. Further
details are outlined under the information governance section of the report.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
•

So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report.

•

The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Wakefield CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an
annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery
Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each CCG shall
have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Mrs Joanne
Webster to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Wakefield CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the CCG
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable.

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the CCG and enable them to
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction).

•

For safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money.

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)).

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each CCG to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
CCG and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash
flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
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•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis.

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed and disclose and explain
any material departures in the accounts.

•

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

•

Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report
and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Joanne Webster
Accountable Officer
10 June 2021

52

Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Wakefield CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on [1 April
2013] under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is,
in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As at 1 April 2021, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing
Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this
governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
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The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The CCG Constitution states that in accordance with section 14L (2) (b) of the 2006
Act, 2014 the Group will at all times observe “such generally accepted principles of
good governance” in the way it conducts its business. These include:
•

The highest standards of propriety involving impartiality, integrity and
objectivity in relation to the stewardship of public funds, the management of
the organisation and the conduct of its business.

•

The Good Governance Standard for Public Services.

•

The standards of behaviour published by the Committee on Standards in
Public Life (1995) known as the “Nolan Principles”.

•

The seven key principles of the NHS Constitution.

•

The Equality Act.

NHS Wakefield CCG is a clinically led, member organisation comprising 36 member
practices and has a responsibility to ensure that robust corporate, clinical and
financial governance arrangements are embedded within the organisation in
accordance with best practice. Each practice has a registered key representative
who is appointed to vote on behalf of their practice. A full list of Member Practices is
set out within the Accountability Report.
The CCG has established a properly constituted Governing Body with the
appropriate clinical, managerial and lay member skill mix, including:
•

The elected Chair and Clinical Leader

•

Three elected GPs

•

the Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

•

the independent Registered Nurse

•

Three independent Lay Members

•

the Chief Officer

•

the Director of Finance/Deputy Chief Officer

•

the Executive Nurse

Organisational structure and accountabilities are clear and well defined. Where
capacity and/or capability gaps have been identified, actions are put in place with
expected outcomes and timescales. Wakefield CCG clearly articulated its values to
stakeholders through its Commissioning Intentions for 2020/21. Our organisational
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development strategy included an annual Staff Survey and developing actions to
address issues for development.
The CCG Governing Body takes overall responsibility for governance throughout the
organisation but discharges some of its responsibilities to a number of committees.
The following committees have been established by the Governing Body:
a) Audit Committee
b) Primary Care Commissioning Committee
c) Remuneration Committee
d) Quality Performance and Governance Committee
e) Public Involvement, Patient Experience and Equality Committee (with effect from
March 2021 will be known as Patient & Community Panel)
f) Finance Committee
g) Nominations Committee
h) Clinical Strategy Group

A full list of committees, including their responsibilities and membership, are set out
in this Statement within the section titled Governing Body. In addition to governance,
the Governing Body and its delegated committees place a clear focus on the
services, performance and patient safety of its commissioned providers.
CCGs are statutory bodies established under the NHS Act 2006 (the 2006 Act) as
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. Legislation requires that each
CCG maintains and publishes a Constitution which contains specific information.
NHS Wakefield CCG adopted the initial model Constitution as recommended by
NHS England as part of its authorisation in 1 January 2013.
During the summer of 2019, the Governing Body approved a number of small
changes to the CCG’s existing Constitution. It was noted that these were nonmaterial changes and would not impact the impact the CCG continuing to carry out
its business and related more to a “tidying-up”.
In September 2018, NHS England issued a revised model Constitution which took
into account changes to legislation, CCG accountability frameworks and wider
developments such as creation of ICS which have taken place over the last few
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years. The revised model also looked to the future in an attempt to facilitate a greater
degree of flexibility for CCGs, whilst maintaining high levels of transparency and
accountability. Given publication of the revised model Constitution, our Governing
Body agreed to hold in abeyance the minor identified changes and to adopt the
revised model. It was therefore timely to undertake a full review of our Constitution
and supporting governance documents including a governance handbook against
the new model.
A new model Constitution was presented to Governing Body on 12 November 2019
for consideration and approval for it to be put to the CCG membership for
consideration and approval by vote. Following a voting period allowing 21 days for
written resolution (on a one practice-one vote basis) as set out in the current
standing orders the new model Constitution was sent to NHS England for final
approval in January 2020. NHS England commits to undertake the review within
eight week of receipt and on the 30 March NHS England confirmed its approval
agreeing for it to be enacted on the 1 April 2020.
The current Constitution sets out the CCG’s powers and functions, describes our
mission, values and aims and how these are delivered through the governance
framework. It describes how we ensure probity and accountability in the day to day
running of our CCG and clarifies how decisions are made in an open and transparent
way and in the interest of patients and the public.
Our Constitution includes the following information:
•

Our membership and the area we cover

•

Our Mission, Values and Aims

•

Functions and Duties

•

Decision Making: The General Structure

•

Roles and Responsibilities

•

Standards of Business Conduct and Managing Conflicts of Interest

•

The CCG as an Employer

•

Transparency and Ways of Working

•

Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation and our Prime

•

Financial Policies

•

Committee Terms of Reference
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The Constitution, particularly through the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation,
makes clear the respective responsibilities of the membership and the Governing
Body and its Committees.
Our Constitution is available on the CCG’s website Constitution.

The Governing Body
Our governance structure is headed by the Board to which our 36 member
practices have formally delegated their statutory responsibilities within our
constitution.
Members of the Board during 2020/21 were:
Name

Role

Joanne Webster

Chief Officer

Richard Hindley

Lay Member & Deputy Chair

Andrew Balchin (April 2020 until December
2020)

Corporate Director, Adults, Health &
Communities (Wakefield Council)

Susannah Cookson

Chief Nurse

Anna Hartley

Director of Public Health (Wakefield Council)

Dr Debbie Hallott

GP member

Diane Hampshire

Independent Nurse Member

Stephen Hardy

Lay member (Patient & Public Involvement)

Dr Clive Harries

GP member

Dr Pravin Jayakumar

GP member

Hany Lotfallah

Secondary care consultant
Assistant Clinical Leader / GP member
Appointed Chair & Clinical Leader
Lay Member (Audit)

Dr Adam Sheppard
Richard Watkinson

Chief Finance Officer/Deputy Chief Officer

Jonathan Webb
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The composition of the Governing Body is compliant with the requirements of the
CCG’s Constitution.
In December 2019 the Nominations Committee oversaw the tenure of three member
of the Governing Body including the Independent Secondary Care Doctor, Lay
Member/Deputy Chair and Lay Member for Public Involvement, Patient Experience
and Equality Committee and recommended to the board the following:
•

The CCGs Independent Secondary Care Doctor, Mr Hany Lotfallah’s tenure
for his second term of office is extended for one year to allow any potential
changes in the NHS Bill to take effect allowing the Secondary Care Doctor to
be appointed from local providers.

•

The Lay Member/Deputy Chair, Richard Hindley’s tenure for his second term
of office is extended for a further three year term of office in line with the
Constitution and subject to the approval of the proposed changes to the
Constitution and the CCG’s Standing Orders.

•

The Lay Member for Patient Experience, Stephen Hardy’s third term of office
is extended for a further three years in line with the model constitution which
recommends that in order to ensure lay members retain independent and
external focus they should serve a term of office of no more than ten years.

The Governing Body met on five occasions during the year 2020/21 (an
extraordinary meeting was held in April 2021). All meetings were quorate. Meetings
were held in public and copies of the papers are available on the CCG’s website:
Governing Body agenda and papers.
The Governing Body draw their membership from a broad pool of NHS staff,
clinicians and lay members, providing the appropriate balance of skills, experience,
independence and knowledge of the organisation to enable them to discharge their
respective duties and responsibilities effectively. All members of the Governing Body
have clear areas of responsibility. The Chair holds regular review meetings and
annual appraisals with members of the Governing Body to discuss their contribution
to the organisation. The membership of the Governing Body can be found in the
Accountability Report within the section titled Member Profiles.
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Committees of the Governing Body
The CCG uses a number of Committees to provide challenge and assurance over
specific areas. All Committees have been formed with a membership that provides a
range of skills, including clinical expertise and lay membership. Membership for all
Committees of the board can be found in table below.
During 2020/21 the Governing Body was supported by eight sub-committees; Audit
Committee, Clinical Strategy Group, Finance Committee, Quality, Performance &
Governance Committee, Nominations Committee, Primary Care Commissioning
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Connecting Care Executive. All
Committees, except Connecting Care Executive, have lay member representation
in the form of either chairing Committees, for example Audit Committee, Finance
Committee and Quality, Performance & Governance Committee, or by being in
attendance. All Committees of the CCG are referenced in the Constitution. The
terms of reference for these Committees were reviewed and revised in June 2021.
Copies of all Committee terms of reference are also available on the CCG’s
website (available In the Constitution and Governance Handbook). Written and
verbal assurance reports and minutes from the Committees are provided to the
Board on a regular basis.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides the Board with an independent and objective view of
the CCG’s system of internal control for financial governance, corporate governance
and clinical governance. For information regarding the membership please refer to
the membership section below.
The Audit Committee met on five occasions during the year with the remit to review
and provide assurance on the adequacy and effective operation of the overall
internal control system for the CCG. Topics discussed included:
•

Governance Exceptions Report.

•

Procurement Register Update.

•

Regular Internal Audit, Counter Fraud and Security Progress Reports.

•

Regular External Audit Updates.

•

Governing Body Assurance Framework.

•

Mid-Year Committee Progress and assurance report.
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•

Audit Committee Self-Assessment.

•

Accounts Planning 2020/21.

The CCG annual Report and Accounts for 2020/21 were recommended to be
approved at the Governing Body meeting held on 8 June 2021.
The Audit Committee annual report was presented to the Committee on 25 May
2021 confirming that the Audit Committee has fulfilled its duties by focusing on
integrated governance, risk management, internal control, financial reporting,
internal audit, external audit, assurance on management, whistleblowing, other
assurance functions and counter fraud. In June 2021 the Board will consider an
annual report from the Audit Committee.

Audit Panel
The Audit Panel met twice during 2020/21. The panel met in October 2020 and then
in January 2021. The Auditor Panel is a committee of the Governing Body and has
no executive powers, other than those specifically delegated in its terms of
reference. The Panel’s function is to advise the organisation’s Governing Body on
the selection and appointment of the external auditor. The Panel met to consider the
extension of contract with the CCGs external auditor with recommendations to the
board in line with its terms of reference. During these meetings conflicts are
managed by excluding the external auditors from all meetings.

Clinical Strategy Group
The Clinical Strategy Group met eight times throughout the year, with the remit of:
• Providing strong clinical leadership for commissioning, service transformation
and pathway redesign and to provide robust assurance of this to the Governing
Body. Including promotion of a culture of continuous improvement, innovation,
safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience/feedback.
• Providing advice and assurance on agreed commissioning strategies and
intentions and strategic alignment with the forward strategy that is agreed for
the population of Wakefield by the Governing Body.
• Ensure initiatives are in place to support the development of cost saving
schemes development through embedding clinical advice, support and
leadership into key commissioning work streams and interlinking portfolio
working across the organisation.
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Topics discussed during 2020/21 included:
•

Planned Care Updates including new referral pathway / Ardens / Clinical
Prioritisation.

•

Ethical Framework for the WY&H Partnership.

•

CAMHS Improvement Briefing / Future in Mind Update / Mental Health and
Learning Disabilities Updates / Special Education Needs Disability Statutory
Duty.

•

Covid-19 Aftercare Plan/Long Covid.

•

Care Home Standard Operating Procedure.

•

Wakefield Resilience Framework 2020/21 update.

•

Covid-19 Vaccination Programme.

•

Maternity Services.

•

Cancer Strategy 2020 and Beyond.

Minutes of the Medicines Optimisation Group meetings are regularly presented to.
The Committee also received regular updates from the CCG’s membership (through
the six clinical networks).
In June 2021 the Board will consider an annual report from the Clinical Strategy
Group. The Annual Report was presented to the Clinical Strategy Group on 15
April 2021 providing assurance that the Committee has complied with its terms of
reference and fulfilled its duties.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is established as a Committee of the Governing Body of
NHS Wakefield CCG, in accordance with the scheme of delegation with the remit
of approval of the financial plan, providing assurance that:
•

The quality, safety and stakeholder impact of individual plans have been
assessed and mitigated.

•

The interrelationship with performance recovery plans have been assessed
and mitigated.

•

All possible measures are being taken to achieve financial turnaround.
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The Finance Committee met seven times during 2020/21 and topics discussed
included:
• 2020/21 Financial Plan Updates.
• Covid-19 costs.
• 2020/21 Efficiency Programme Updates.
• Running Costs 2020/21.
• System Financial Planning.
• 2020/21 Activity Monitoring.
• Wakefield CCG Risk Register – Assessment of Financial Risks.
• Contract assurance report – 2020/21.
• Procurement Policy approval.
In June 2021 the Board will consider an annual report from the Finance
Committee. The annual report was presented to the Committee on 22 April 2021
providing assurance that the committee has complied with its terms of reference
and fulfilled its duties.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee undertook a virtual recommendation in June 2020 and
held a meeting in January 2021 with the remit of:
•

Ensuring a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of
members to the Governing Body (including GPs, Lay Members and Registered
Nurse).

On those occasions when the Committee meets to consider the appointment of
GPs a representative from the Local Medical Committee is invited as an attendee.
A virtual decision to recommend approval to the Governing Body in relation to the
extension to tenure of two of the GP members of the Governing was sought in and
was approved at the June 2020 Governing Body meeting. A meeting was held in
January 2021 to consider and recommend to the Governing Body the reappointment of the Chair/Clinical Advisor, one Lay Member, Nurse Member,
Secondary Care Consultant and the re-appointment of one GP Clinical Member
and this recommendation was approved at the March 2021 Governing Body
meeting.
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In June 2021 the Board will consider an annual report from the Nominations
Committee which will provide assurance that the Committee has complied with its
terms of reference and fulfilled its duties. The Committee fulfilled its duties by
recommending to the Governing Body the re-appointment of the Chair/Clinical
Advisor, one Lay Member, Nurse Member, Secondary Care Consultant and three
GP Clinical Members.

Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee has met four times during 2020/21
with the remit of:
•

Facilitating decision making about items which present conflicts of interest for
all or the majority of GP members of the Governing Body.

•

Carrying out the functions delegated to the CCG relating to the commissioning
of primary medical services.

The topics discussed during 2020/21 included:
•

Proposed GP practice merger.

•

Contract & Performance Decisions made during Covid-19.

•

GP practice premises refurbishment – Northgate and Riverside.

•

Commissioning Intentions 2020/21.

•

Wakefield Practice Premium Contract Performance Report 2019/20.

•

Quality & Outcomes Framework 2019/20.

•

Interim Provider Policy.

•

Urgent Decisions by Chief Officer.

•

Castleford Health Centre.

The revised Terms of Reference will be presented at the meeting of the Primary
Care Commissioning Committee in June 2021.
In June 2021 the Governing Body will consider an annual report from the Primary
Care Commissioning Committee which will provide assurance that the committee
has complied with its terms of reference and fulfilled its duties.

Quality, Performance & Governance Committee
The Quality, Performance & Governance Committee met bi-monthly throughout
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the year. The Committee remit is:
•

Ensuring that the CCG has robust systems in place to identify, manage and
report on key governance and quality issues and the risks associated with
them.

•

Reviewing the CCG’s performance against its strategic and operational plans.

•

Being accountable for the performance and reporting of any groups, as
delegated by the Governing Body, ensuring all risks are appropriately managed
and reported within the risk management/assurance framework approach.

The topics discussed throughout the year included:
•

Monthly Performance Report.

•

Quality and Patient Safety reports quarterly including the Experience of Care
Framework and the Patient Safety and Outcomes Report.

•

CQC Inspection updates.

•

Incident Report updates.

•

GBAF update.

•

Information Governance updates.

•

The Individual Funding Requests (IFR) Annual Report for 2019/20 and the IFR
Terms of Reference.

•

Research Governance Annual Report for 2019/20.

•

Workforce Update/Staff Survey Action Plan.

•

Risk Register 2020/21.

•

Equality including Public Sector Equality Duty Report.

•

Health & Safety report.

Other topics also presented included:
•

Covid-19 Quality Impact Assessment Process.

•

Access to Infertility Treatment Commissioning Policy.

•

Safeguarding Children & Young People during the Coronavirus Pandemic.

•

Primary Care Prescribing Rebate Scheme Policy.

•

Information Governance Policy Booklet/Procedure Booklet/Freedom of
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Information Policy.
•

Personal Health Budget Policy, CHC Commissioning Principles for Adults,
Children & Young People.

•

2019/20 Learning Disabilities Mortality Review Annual Report.

•

NHS CHC performance update.

•

Safeguarding Policy.

•

Update on progress from SEND inspection and revisit.

•

Engagement Annual Report 2019/20.

•

Maternity Services.

•

Ofsted Focused Visit to Wakefield Local Authority Children’s Services.

The Quality, Performance & Governance Committee has one standing sub-group,
the Quality Intelligence Group. Minutes are shared with the Committee on a regular
basis. The revised terms of reference of the Quality Intelligence Group were
approved in March 2021.
In June 2021 the Board will consider an annual report from the Quality,
Performance & Governance Committee. The annual report was presented to the
Committee on 27 May 2021 providing assurance that the Committee has
complied with its terms of reference and fulfilled its duties.

Remuneration Committee
The Committee has met once during the year in November 2020 to discuss and
recommend to the Governing Body the Pay uplift confirmation for GB members with
effect from 1 April 2020. On 17 November 2020 there was also a Remuneration
Advisory Panel meeting held to consider the Remuneration Review in respect of the
West Yorkshire & Harrogate CCH Lay Member roles. The Governing Body
approved the recommendation on 9 March 2021.

Connecting Care Executive
The Connecting Care Executive is a joint committee with Wakefield Council. The
Committee met on five occasions during 2020/21 with the remit of:
• Acting as the Partnership Board responsible for review of performance and
oversight of the Better Care Fund. This includes undertaking the statutory
functions outlined in the Care Act 2014 and managing the implementation of
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the Better Care Fund Plan and associated Section 75 Better Care Fund
Partnership (BCF) Agreement.
• Delivering the ambition of the Health and Wellbeing Board to achieve
more effective integration between the commissioning of children’s,
adults’, public health and NHS services.
Topics presented and discussed during this period included:
•

Mental Health Commissioning.

•

Wakefield BCF/BCF Pooled Financial Monitoring/ 2020/21 BCF Plan.

•

Commissioning Adults Health and Social Care.

•

Wakefield Families Together.

•

Reablement Review.

•

Domiciliary Care Winter 2019/20 Initiative Evaluation Report.

•

Wakefield Joint Commissioning Framework.

•

CHC.

•

2019/20 Learning Disabilities Mortality Review Annual Report.

The purpose of the Connecting Care Executive is to be the Partnership Board
responsible for review of performance and oversight of the BCF and to deliver the
ambition of the Health and Wellbeing Board to achieve more effective integration
between the commissioning of children’s, adults’, public health and NHS services.
The Connecting Care Executive needs to also undertake the statutory functions
outlined in the Care Act 2014 and managing the implementation of the Better Care
Fund Plan and associated Section 75 BCF Partnership Agreement.
In June 2021 the Board will consider an annual report from the Connecting Care
Executive which will provide assurance that the committee has complied with its
terms of reference and fulfilled its duties in line with The Care Act 2014 (Part 4,
section 121, (3)) which sets out the legislative framework that the resources
identified as part of the BCF are required to be placed into pooled budgets under
section 75 joint governance arrangements between the CCG and the Council. The
Connecting Care Executive shall have oversight and responsibility for the statutory
arrangements for the Better Care Fund.
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Attendance at Governing Body and Committee meetings as at 31 March 2021:
Governing
Body Member

Governing
Body

Audit
Committee

Clinical
Strategy
Group

Connecting
Care
Executive

Finance
Committee

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee

N/A

Quality,
Performance
&
Governance
Committee
N/A

Andrew
Balchin
(April 2020 December
2020)
Suzannah
Cookson

1 (3)

N/A

N/A

2 (5)

3 (4)

N/A

6 (8)

2 (5)

4 (7)

5 (7)

2 (4)

Dr Deborah
Hallott

3 (4)

2 (5)

6 (8)

N/A

N/A

7 (7)

N/A

Diane
Hampshire

4 (4)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

4 (4)

Stephen
Hardy

3 (4)

N/A

7 (8)

N/A

N/A

6 (7)

4 (4)

Dr Clive
Harries

4 (4)

5 (5)

8 (8)

N/A

6 (7)

N/A

N/A

Anna Hartley

4 (4)

N/A

N/A

0 (5)

N/A

N/A

N/A

Richard
Hindley

2 (4)

5 (5)

N/A

N/A

7 (7)

7 (7)

3 (4)

Dr Pravin
Jayakumar

4 (4)

N/A

7 (8)

N/A

(7)

N/A

N/A

Hany Lotfallah

4 (4)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

2 (4)

Dr Adam
Sheppard

4 (4)

N/A

6 (8)

4 (5)

6 (7)

4 (7)

N/A

Richard
Watkinson

4 (4)

5 (5)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

3 (4)

Jonathan
Webb **

4 (4)

5 (5)

7 (8)

3 (5)

6 (7)

6 (7)

3 (4)

Jo Webster

3 (4)

N/A

N/A

1 (5)

5 (7)

2 (7)

N/A

N/A

NB. The number in brackets is the maximum number of meetings in 2020/21 that
the member could attend.
*Chief Operating Officer to be in attendance, where required, in place of the Chief
Officer should the Chief Officer not be able to attend the Quality Performance and
Governance Committee.
** Jonathan Webb is in attendance at Audit Committee.
All Committee meetings held during the year were quorate. Attendance at meetings
is monitored by the chair of the Committee and shared with the chair of the Board.
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Joint Committee
The role of the Joint Committee
The Committee has delegated authority from the West Yorkshire (WY) CCGs to take
joint decisions on agreed priorities. The Committee also makes recommendations
when a collaborative approach across WY&H will help to achieve better outcomes.
The Committee has an independent lay chair, three CCG lay members and two
representatives from each WY CCG. North Yorkshire CCG is an associate member.
As a result of Covid-19, all meetings were held virtually in 2020/21 and were live
streamed. The attendance record is at Appendix 1.
The Committee has a Public and Patient Involvement Assurance Group made up of
lay members from each CCG. The Group provides assurance that public and patient
voice informs the Committee’s decisions.

1. Improving outcomes
Responding to Covid-19
The Committee considered how WY&H health and care programmes had refocused
to support the response to Covid-19. The Committee agreed that its work during the
year would need to evolve to reflect the new priorities arising from Covid-19.

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Healthy Hearts
In 2018, the Joint Committee recommended the CCGs to adopt the Healthy Hearts
improvement project, building on successful work in Bradford. The project aims to
identify more people with high blood pressure, help them to control it better and
reduce the risk of heart attacks and strokes. As a result, 22,000 more people have
had their blood pressure controlled to target numbers. WY&H Healthy Hearts won
the Health Service Journal Cardiovascular Initiative of the Year award in 2020.

Assessment and Treatment Units (ATUs) for people with complex
learning disabilities
The Committee supported a proposal to commission a new care model for people
with a learning disability. This involved collaborative commissioning between
commissioners and providers across the whole pathway for people with learning
disabilities. The aim is to develop a single system and centre of excellence. The
Committee noted plans for engaging with people who had accessed care in ATUs,
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their carers and staff. Formal approval for the proposals was sought at a meeting in
2021/22, following further engagement.

Urgent and emergency care
The Committee supported a national programme which built on learning from Covid19. It encouraged people to phone 111 as an alternative to ‘walking’ unheralded into
EDs. The integrated offer included alternative pathways, for example GPs,
pharmacists and mental health advice. Patients are remotely triaged to determine if
there is a clinical need to be seen face to face.
The Committee considered a report on primary medical care services in WY which
were provided by LCD. The response to Covid-19, changes in national policy and
potential changes to the commissioner landscape meant that there was uncertainty
about what should be commissioned for the future. The Committee felt that in the
current circumstances a pragmatic approach should be taken and agreed to extend
the service from LCD for three years.

Improving planned care
The Committee supported changes to the Improving Planned Care programme,
which focused on restarting planned care following the first wave of Covid-19. This
included improving access to diagnostic testing services and more shared decision
making between primary and secondary care.
The Committee approved an amendment to a WY&H policy for flash glucose
monitors – small sensors worn on the skin for monitoring the glucose levels of
people with diabetes. The amendment covered type 2 diabetes patients with learning
disabilities who need to use insulin. Self-management of diabetes by patients with
learning disabilities would promote independence and reduce health inequalities.
The Joint Committee had previously agreed a number of clinical threshold policies,
which had improved equality of access across WY&H and reduced levels of surgery
where non-surgical interventions could be more effective.

Stroke
In 2018, the Joint Committee agreed a common approach for commissioning hyper
acute stroke services and all stages from prevention to recovery. The specialist
hyper-acute stroke pathways are now well established, with four units providing
hyper-acute care during the first 72 hours following stroke across WY&H. A
sustainable stroke clinical network has been established, working to provide the
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best stroke services possible and further improve quality and stroke outcomes in
each of our six places. Priorities include preventing strokes, delivering effective care
when people have a stroke and ensuring that there is good support and
rehabilitation for people after a stroke.

2. Working better together
The Committee led new approaches to collaborative working between
commissioners and providers. The Commissioning Futures programme was
developed in collaboration with partners across the health and care system, based
on our successful model of place-based working. Work is only carried out at WY&H
level if it adds value to our places.
The Committee supported collaboration between commissioners and providers
through the Cancer Alliance, Improving Planned Care programme, Local Maternity
System and Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism Alliance. The Committee
also supported the Yorkshire and Humber framework for integrated commissioning
of Integrated Urgent and Emergency Care Services provided by YAS.

3. Governance
In 2020, the WY CCGs agreed a revised MoU for Collaborative Commissioning,
which included a new work plan and the delegation of new commissioning decisions
to the Joint Committee.
The Committee maintains a register of members’ interests and declarations of
interest are a standing item on all agendas. At each meeting, the Committee reviews
the significant risks to the delivery of its work programme and assesses how these
risks are being mitigated.

Attendance record
Organisation and role

Member

Attendance
(eligible)

Independent Lay Chair

Marie Burnham

3 (3)

Stephen Hardy
Richard Wilkinson
Ruby Bhatti
John Mallalieu

3 (3)
1 (1)
2 (2)
2 (2)

CCG Lay members
(to 7 July 2020 meeting)
(from 6 October 2020 meeting)
(from 6 October 2020 meeting)
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NHS Bradford, District and Craven CCG
Clinical Chair
Chief Officer
Strategic Director of Quality and Nursing

Dr James Thomas
Helen Hirst
Michelle Thomas
(Deputy for Helen
Hirst)

3 (3)
2 (3)
1 (1)

NHS Calderdale CCG
Clinical Chair
Deputy Chief Officer
(to 6th October 2020 meeting)
Chief Officer
(from 21st January 2021 meeting)

Dr Steven Cleasby
Neil Smurthwaite
Robin Tuddenham

2 (3)
2 (2)
1 (1)

NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG
Clinical Chair

Dr Steve Ollerton

3 (3)

NHS North Kirklees CCG
Clinical Chair

Dr Khalid Naeem

2 (3)

NHS Greater Huddersfield and North Kirklees CCGs
Chief Officer

Carol McKenna

3 (3)

NHS Leeds CCG
Clinical Chair
Chief Executive

Dr Jason Broch
Tim Ryley

3 (3)
3 (3)

NHS Wakefield CCG
Clinical Chair
Chief Officer

Dr Adam Sheppard
Jo Webster

3 (3)
3 (3)

Associate
member
NHS North Yorkshire CCG
Clinical Chair
Chief Officer

Dr Charles Parker
Amanda Bloor

2 (3)
1 (3)

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However compliance with relevant principles of the Code is considered to be
appropriate and good practice. This Annual Governance Statement is intended to
demonstrate how the CCG has due regard to the principles set out in the Code and
which are considered appropriate for CCGs. For the financial year ended 31 March
2021, and up to the date of signing this statement, we had regard to the provisions
set out in the code and applied the principles of the code.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I
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can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions
on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability
and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Risk Management Framework
The Integrated Risk Management Framework (IRMF) sets out appetite for risk,
together with the practical means through which risk is identified and evaluated as
well as the control mechanisms through which it is managed. It creates a framework
to achieve a culture that encourages staff to:
•

Identify and control risks which may adversely affect the operational ability of the
CCG.

•

Compare risks using the 5 x 5 grading system (see matrix below).

•

Eliminate, transfer or reduce risks to an acceptable and cost effective level
wherever possible, otherwise ensure the organisation openly accepts the
remaining risks.

•

Provide the Governing Body with assurance that risk is being effectively
managed through appropriate risk management escalation mechanisms for the
purposes of decision making.

The risk score determines the prioritisation and allocation of resource. Higher scores
have a higher priority for action, as the impact of failing to reduce the risk is greater.
Risk scores are categorised into five sections. The table below shows the categories
of risk scoring.
The risk score determines the prioritisation and allocation of resource. Higher scores
have a higher priority for action, as the impact of failing to reduce the risk is greater.
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Risk scores are categorised into five sections. The table below shows the categories
of risk scoring.
Risk Category
Priority No
Critical Risk (20-25)

Black

Serious Risk (15-16)

Red

High Risk (8-12)

Yellow

Moderate Risk (4-6)

Green

4

Low Risk (1-3)

Clear

5

1
2
3

The framework was reviewed and approved in September 2020 by the Governing
Body following comment by the Executive Management Group in July 2020.
The key risk management objectives are:
1. The organisation has appropriate and effective systems in place to identify, report
and manage risk.
2. The organisation has effective processes to capture and learn from mistakes to
reduce future risks.
3. An effective accountability framework for the management and reporting of risk is
in place.
4. The organisational risk management framework provides sufficient evidence and
assurance to comply with relevant external assessment and best practice.
5. The organisation will develop risk management arrangements for key
partnerships and major projects.

The CCG monitors and reports on risk in two ways:
• The GBAF focuses on strategic/long-term risks to the delivery of our strategic
objectives. The GBAF is reviewed and updated twice per year.
• The corporate risk register focuses on more operational risks that may rise and fall
within relatively short time periods. The corporate risk register is reviewed and
updated four times per year.
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Leadership of the risk management process is given a high profile within the CCG
and the IRMF sets out the roles of key personnel in handling and reporting risks.
Risk management is built into the strategic planning process and managed
operationally with the governance of decision making set out in the organisation’s
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
Risks are identified from a number of sources, including the Governing Body,
Executive Directors, staff, GBAF, internal and external audit reports and risk
assessments. Monitoring, evaluation and control have been further developed
throughout the year and all identified risks are included on either the Corporate Risk
Register, GBAF or individual team risk logs.
Risk management by the Governing Body is therefore underpinned by six
interlocking systems of internal control:
•

GBAF.

•

Corporate Risk Register (informed by team, committee or programme risk).

•

Individual team risk logs.

•

Audit Committee and Quality, Performance and Governance Committee.

•

Governance Sub-committee.

•

Annual Governance Statement.

Risk Appetite
The IRMF includes provisions to regularly review risks.
The IRMF includes guidance regarding the scoring of risks and establishing the
‘target’ or risk appetite score. A 5x5 matrix is used to identifying the appropriate level
for each individual risk. The score and appetite score are set by the risk owner and
reviewed by the Senior Manager and relevant director. The risks are then subject to
an overview at the Performance, Quality and Governance Committee to:
•

Oversee the development and maintenance of assurance and risk management
systems and processes.

•

Maintain an up to date risk profile by reviewing all significant risks to the
achievement of the CCG’s objectives through the development of an Assurance
Framework.

•

Ensure sound systems of internal control are in place and report on these to the
Audit Committee and Governing Body.
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•

Promote standards of health, safety and welfare across the CCG, ensuring
compliance with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and other relevant
statutory provisions.

Other controls to manage risk
Information from the GBAF and risk register are triangulated with information from
other sources to deliver assurance on the prevention of risk and the management of
current risks. These include:
•

Incident reports.

•

Serious incident investigations.

•

Conflicts of interest.

•

Business continuity plans.

•

Health and safety assessments (including fire assessment).

The CCG has established a range of policies to support the management of risk.
These include the IRMF, Incident Reporting Policy, Health and Safety Policy,
Concerns, complaints, comments and compliments Policy, Claims Policy and
Freedom to Speak Up (Whistleblowing) Policy.

Involving public stakeholders to manage risks which impact on
them
The CCG values the involvement of public stakeholders in its local and collective
decisions, and we utilise various engagement approaches to ensure an inclusive
approach to involving the diversity of our citizens. To this effect, we have considered
a number of key elements for involving public stakeholders set out in:
•

The White Paper, ‘Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS’.

•

Health and Social Care Act 2012.

•

The NHS Constitution.

•

Patient and public participation in commissioning health and care: statutory
guidance for CCGs and NHS England.

The CCG identifies impacts and risks of the decisions it makes through Equality and
Quality Impact Assessment processes. These assessments provide insight into how
certain communities may be impacted upon by potential changes. The insight of
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these assessments is used to target engagement with affected communities with a
focus on how any impacts and risks can be negated or managed.
We engage with members of the public at the earliest opportunity in our decision
making process. We also identify opportunities for public representatives to be
directly involved in our planning and decision making through participation in project
meetings, partnership boards and procurement activities.
Supporting local people to have their say and influence our commissioning decisions
is a priority for us.
Sharing the outcomes of our decision making with the public and highlighting where
public voice has impacted on our plans and decisions is vitally important to building
trust with our communities and encouraging more involvement.
Our engagement activity is overseen and assured by our Public Involvement and
Patient Experience Committee whose members include local people, Governing
Body lay member, who is the Chair of the Committee, Healthwatch Wakefield, Young
Healthwatch and the Local Authority.
The CCG has one Lay Member with responsibility for public engagement. Our lay
member chairs the Public Involvement and Patient Experience Committees. As well
as being voting member of the Governing body, our lay member is also a member of
the CCGs Remuneration, Primary Care Commissioning and the Quality,
Performance and Governance Committees. This ensures there is a voice for patients
and the public throughout our decision making and governance.
We consult with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and NHS England as well as
working in partnership with our local Healthwatch and voluntary community within the
health sector.
During the Covid-19 pandemic, the Public Involvement and Patient Experience
Committee was suspended due to the Covid-19 restrictions in place. In order to
ensure that the citizen voice continued to be heard, an informal virtual Patient &
Community Panel was established. The Panel merged membership of various
patient groups and in March 2020 was established as a formal Committee, replacing
the Public Involvement and Patient Experience Committee.
The CCGs monthly Quality Intelligence Group (QIG) considers information gathered
from complaints and other contracts with patients. The group considers comments
made during engagement exercises and patient ‘walk-abouts’, as well as comments
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from staff members in order to identify themes and patterns which may identify gaps
or potential risks to current or future services.

Complaints to the Parliamentary Ombudsman
There were no complaints submitted to the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman for formal review during 2020/21.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The CCG has a robust and systematic approach to risk management. The
Accountable Officer is supported by the Senior Leadership Team in ensuring that the
CCG has a positive and open approach to the identification and management of risk.

Effectiveness of governance structures
All Committees have approved terms of reference which detail their accountability
and responsibility. A work plan is in place and all committees of the Governing Body
conduct an annual self-appraisal to ensure the terms of reference are being met.

Responsibilities of directors and committees
The roles and responsibilities of staff as owners of risks on the risk register, as well
as those of senior managers and directors, are set out in the IRMF.
Senior managers and directors have clear responsibilities within the GBAF and the
corporate risk register, to identify and manage risk.
The Governing Body is responsible for providing clear commitment and direction for
risk management within the CCG. The detailed review and operational management
of the Risk Register has been delegated to the Quality, Performance and
Governance Committee with the Governing Body reviewing the Risk Register twice a
year.
GBAF entries have an associated clinical lead, where necessary, to ensure that the
risk and mitigations are clinically appropriate.

Reporting lines
The lines of accountabilities between the Governing Body, its Committees and subcommittees and the executive team are set out in the IRMF and the terms of
reference for specific committees.
Members of the executive team are involved with both the GBAF and the risk
register. Following their reviews, the risk register is reviewed four times a year by the
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Quality, Performance and Governance Committee, which also reviews the GBAF
twice a year.
Governing Body sees the minutes of each Quality, Performance and Governance
Committee and twice a year receives details of the high level risks (those scoring
between 15 and 25 using a 5x5 risk matrix).
The Audit Committee received assurance on the effectiveness of the risk
management system by bi-annual review of the GBAF.

Timely and accurate information
Staff and senior managers identify risks as a generic element of their role. Newly
identified risks can be added to the corporate risk register at any time. However, staff
are prompted four times a year to record any new risks and to review existing risks
during the formal review cycle.
Senior managers and Directors will identify new entries for the GBAF which is
updated twice a year.
Any gap in control or assurance identified on the GBAF is mirrored with a risk on the
risk register. Both the risk register and the GBAF identify the links between the two
systems.
Risks are also identified though finance and performance reports and are discussed
at Quality, Performance and Governance Committee, Governing Body and Audit
Committee.

Degree and rigour of oversight
When the risk register and GBAF are presented at Quality, Performance and
Governance Committee or the Governing Body, they are subject to scrutiny and
discussion. Focus is usually on the score or movement of a risk and on the
effectiveness of the controls in place.
In addition, the standard covering documentation for all papers presented at
committees includes a section seeking details of the risk assessments linked to the
item.
Other documents such as minutes from subsidiary committees, financial and quality
reports are considered.
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Training
All staff are required to carry out mandatory training on a number of topics including
information governance, fire safety, health and safety, and ‘Prevent’ (antiradicalisation initiative), Standards of Business Conduct and Conflicts of Interest.
In addition, certain staff are required to carry out additional training which is
appropriate for their roles.
Good practice identified from incident reporting is shared with staff via the Skyline
intranet service, and staff briefings.
A comprehensive suite of policies and procedures is available for staff on Skyline.
This includes guidance relating to the use of the risk register. All staff newly
appointed to the risk register are offered one-to-one training and support from the
Governance Team.
Senior managers and directors have received support regarding the risk register at
Senior Leadership Team meetings where exercises took place to compare and
benchmark risk scores and to interrogate rationales for cases where scores
remained static over a period of time.

Risk Assessment
Risk assessment in relation to governance, risk management and
internal control
Risk assessments in relation to governance, risk management and internal control
are carried out through a number of mechanisms including:
•

Through internal governance arrangements taking account of risk
assessment guidance in the IRMF, self-assessment activity, review of our
Constitution, new national guidance or regulations and external inquiries
such as the Francis Report or the Winterbourne Review.

•

Through the annual internal audit plan by Audit Yorkshire. The plan is
developed from a risk assessment of all areas of our activities and work
undertaken in line with the plan is reported to the Audit Committee.

•

Through external audit throughout the year by KPMG, which includes
attendance at the Audit Committee and focused pieces of external audit work as
set out in the auditors annual work plan, culminating in the risk review
undertaken prior to annual reporting and accounts.
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Guidance on risk assessment and scoring is provided in the IRMG and is
supplemented by individual support from the Governance Team.

Major risks to governance, risk management and internal controls
The GBAF details 11 key risks to the CCG’s strategic objectives which are based
on CCG Statutory Duties. Each entry has been scored using a 5x5 matric and a
‘target’ or risk appetite identified. The controls and assurances are detailed,
together with any gaps which will then be subject to an action to reduce or remove
the gap.
The final full review of the GBAF for 2020/21 took place in November 2020 and
was approved at Governing Body in December 2020. A further review was
commenced and considered at the March 2021 Quality, Performance and
Governance Committee and will be approved at Governing Body in June 2021.
The highest scoring entry related to the impact of Covid-19. This was:
• NHS Wakefield CCG identified that there is a risk that the direct response to
Covid-19 compromises other services.
Work is ongoing to fully understand the conflicting demands and work with partners to
develop a whole system response the challenges of Covid-19.
The GBAF is supported by the corporate risk register which details the
operational risks.
Each risk is scored using a 5x5 risk scoring matrix and a target score is identified.
Controls and assurances are identified.
The final Risk Register cycle for 2020/21 included 53 risks.
The risk profile for the final review cycle for 2020/21 was considered at the Quality,
Performance and Governance Committee on 28 January 2020 is included below:
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The numbers in the circle are the risk identification numbers and their position on the
graph shows the risk score.
Risks are will be subject to action plans/controls and assurances in proportion to
their risk score:
•

Black = Critical risks requiring urgent action.

•

Red = Serious risks requiring prompt action.

•

Yellow = High risks.

•

Green = Moderate risks.

•

Clear = Low risks which may require monitoring only.

Throughout 2020/21, the persistent risks related to waiting times for treatment and
referrals. The issues are all long standing and were exacerbated by the impact of
Covid-19.
•

There is a risk that the CCG will fail to meet the required cancer standards
including two week wait (2ww), 31 day and 62 day cancer waiting time
targets.

•

There is a risk that MYHT will continue to fail to meet the required standard for
Incomplete 18 week Referral to Treatment (RTT) which will result in the CCG
failing to deliver the NHS Constitutional standard.
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•

There is a risk of 52 week breaches being reported at MYHT and at other
neighbouring Acute Trusts due to Covid-19.

NHS Wakefield CCG continues to work closely with MMYHT to reduce the waiting
times and seek alternative route to treatment for patients.
The final risk cycle of 2020/21 did not identify any governance, risk management or
internal control risks with a risk score of over 16.
Details for the GBAF and Risk Register can be found on the CCG’s website within
our Governing Body papers here.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The adequacy of internal controls is monitored and assessed by the Governing Body
supported by the Audit Committee. There are a range of control measures in place
including the:
• Operation of the governing body and its committees in accordance with clear
terms of reference and delegated responsibilities as described in the scheme of
delegation and reservation.
• Annual review of governing body and committee effectiveness.
• The management of key risks to the achievement of our strategic objectives as
identified in the GBAF.
• The management of operational risks as identified in the corporate risk register.
• Establishment, maintenance and review of operational policies across all areas
of business, including reviews on the application of those policies.
• Application of appropriate financial accounting and financial management
procedures as described in the standing financial instructions.
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• Regular reporting of performance on our duties and responsibilities to the
Governing Body.
• Review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control carried out by the
internal audit function.
• Quarterly CCG assurance submission to NHS England.
In addition, the CCG has developed innovative methods to gather ‘intelligence’ these
include the Quality Intelligence Group and patient safety walkabouts. Collectively
these controls reduce the likelihood of risk occurring.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS
England has published a template audit framework.
The CCG received an overall internal audit opinion of ‘significant assurance’ about
the systems and processes in place to manage conflicts of interest.
Data Quality
The Governing Body is supplied with information in a timely manner; this information
is in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties. Regular
reports to the Governing Body include an integrated quality and performance report
and financial performance report.
Through the annual committee self-assessment process members of the Governing
Body confirmed data and information provided is appropriate.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by a Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively.
We achieved a status of ‘Standards Met’ for our DSPT submission in 2019/20. This
submission was made in August 2020, due to an extension to the submission
deadline that had been granted to NHS organisations to enable them to concentrate
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their resources on responding to the pandemic. The usual submission deadline is the
end of March each year.
During 2020/21 we have been undertaking the assurance work to support the annual
DSPT submission. In light of the current Covid-19 pandemic, NHS Digital extended
the deadline date for the 2020/21 submission to 30 June 2021. This extension was
again to enable NHS organisations to concentrate their resources on responding to
the pandemic.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and have
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the DSPT.
We work to ensure that all staff undertake annual Data Security Awareness training
and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are
aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities.
We have information risk assessment and management processes in place to fully
embed the information risk culture throughout the organisation against identified
risks.
We are continually seeking to improve and develop our information governance and
management through procedural review, training for information asset owners,
improved ongoing awareness culture and working with our informatics partner to
improve system security.
Summary of Data Security and Protection Incidents reported to the Information
Commissioners Office (ICO) and/or Department of Health and Social Care
During 2020-21 there was one personal data-related incident that met the threshold
for reporting to the ICO as a serious personal data breach requiring investigation,
based on context, scale and sensitivity.
Date of
incident
(month)

Nature of
incident

Number
affected

How patients
were informed

Lesson learned

July 2020

Confidential
patient
information was
emailed to a
member of the
public in error,
rather than
being emailed to

1 individual

A written apology
was provided to the
patient’s
representative by
the organisations
Senior Information
Risk Owner
(SIRO).

Awareness raising
on the risks relating
to email and safe
email practice,
shared verbally and
in writing with all
staff.
Regular reminders
to staff about the
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the patient’s
representative.

risks of emailing,
provided at regular
intervals via
briefings and written
updates.

Business Critical Models
In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the
quality assurance of analytical models, I can confirm that an appropriate framework
and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business-critical models.
The CCGs Information Governance framework ensures that business critical
systems are identified and managed effectively. As part of this framework
information asset owners have been appointed that cover the range of business
systems used by the CCG. The Information Asset Owners have been trained. Their
responsibility in relation to business-critical systems involves the maintenance of an
information asset register relevant to their organisational remit, the maintenance of
service continuity plans and the continuity of key skills to operate such systems.

Third party assurances
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the
provision of back office services and functions. Assurances on the effectiveness of
the controls in place for these are received in part from an annual Service Auditor
Report from the relevant service.
The organisations concerned are:
NHS Shared Business Services, via their independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in respect of Accounts Payable and Receivable
functions;
NHS Business Services Authority, via their independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in respect of Prescription Payments;
NHS Digital, via their independent auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in respect
of the processing of NHS payments and deductions to providers of general practice
(GP) services in England.

Control Issues
Five control issues have been identified during 2020/21.
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Quality and Performance - Accident and Emergency
•

MYHT continue to participate in the new urgent care standards pilot and
therefore the CCG is not monitored against the four hour waiting time
standard. A partnership programme for A&E (Urgent Care Improvement
Group) is still in place to ensure collective process and approaches to
management; interventions and prioritisation are in-place.

Quality and Performance RTT/18 week wait:
•

It is not anticipated that the CCG will achieve the national standard of 92% to
due to Covid-19 and the reduction of activity. MYHT have specialty level
trajectories in place to support a performance improvement and a
performance will be a key focus in 2021/22.
A partnership programme for planned care between the CCG and MYHT
ensures collective process and approaches to management; interventions and
prioritisation are in-place.
Joint governance is in-place (Joint Acute Strategic Oversight Group) to
oversee the improvement group. Routine reporting is provided to Governing
Body via the appropriate committees.

•

Significant 52-week pressures remain at LTHT and now at MYHT as a result
of Covid-19. MYHT Reset & Delivery Group is overseeing the delivery of
activity and the associated initiatives to support a reduction in the over 52
week waiting position. Each specialty has a performance trajectory and the
Trust continues to work towards achieving the Trust North standard of zero
non-admitted over 52-week breaches.

Routine reporting is provided to Governing Body via the appropriate committees.
Quality and Performance – Other
•

Cancer 62 day
Achievement of the 62-day cancer waiting time standard (GP referral) remains
a challenge and MYHT do not anticipate achievement of the national standard
this year. Cancer has been prioritised during Covid-19 but performance has
been affected. The Trust continues to work closely with the Cancer Alliance
Team.
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A partnership programme for Planned Care ensures collective process and
approaches to management; interventions and prioritisation are in-place.
Routine reporting is provided to Governing Body via the appropriate Committees.
Finance, Governance and Control - Information Governance, inc. data breaches
•

An incident took place at the end of July 2020 where confidential patient
information was emailed to a member of the public in error, rather than being
emailed to the patient’s representative who was communicating about their
close relative by email. A number of immediate actions were taken to
minimise the impact of the incident and subsequently a written apology was
provided to the patient’s representative by the SIRO. The CCG reviewed the
guidance on external notification of incidents and reported the incident to the
ICO. The ICO wrote to the CCG on 28 August 2020 and advised that they had
considered the information the CCG had provided and had decided that no
further action by them was necessary. However, they did provide a number of
minor recommendations in their response. The SIRO, Data Protection Officer
and Information Governance Manager have reviewed these recommendations
in relation to any gaps. Information Governance reminder messages,
Information Governance policy and annual NHS Digital Data Security
awareness raising cover this risk area. A full root cause analysis was
identified which will take place once staff capacity permits. The root cause
analysis is expected to identify if any further action which may be required.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of
resources
The CCG has well developed systems and processes for managing its resources.
The Governing Body has overarching responsibility for ensuring the CCG has
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently, and
economically and is supported in doing so via the GBAF.
The Chief Finance Officer, who is a member of Governing Body, is responsible for
providing financial advice and for supervising financial control and accounting
systems. The Chief Finance Officer presents a finance report to every meeting of the
Governing Body and the Finance Committee.
The Audit Committee receives regular reports on a range of governance issues
including from both internal and external auditors.
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The Audit Committee will have the opportunity to scrutinise in detail the CCG’s
financial statements for 2019/20 at its meeting on 26 May 2020 together with the
report from external audit. The Governing Body has delegated formal sign off of the
Annual Report and Accounts to the CCG Chair, Chief Officer and Audit Committee
Chair.
The CCG informs its control framework by the work of the internal audit function to
ensure that controls are operating effectively and to advise on areas for
improvement. Audit action plans are monitored and implementation reviewed and
reported to the Audit Committee. The annual Internal Audit Plan is approved by the
Audit Committee and covers the risk profile of the CCG.
The My NHS Quality of Leadership indicator is based on four key lines of enquiry to
determine how robustly the leaders of a CCG are performing their role. The four key
lines of enquiry are:
•

Robust culture and leadership sustainability.

•

Quality.

•

Governance, including financial governance.

•

Engagement and involvement.

Evidence based assessments are made by NHS England local teams and
moderated regionally and nationally. There are four levels of assessment:
Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement, Inadequate.
As at the end of 2019/20 the CCG was rated OUTSTANDING for the Quality of
Leadership indicator. The indicators can be found here:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/ccg-annual-assessment-2019-20/

Delegation of functions
The Governing Body has approved delegation of powers through the Scheme of
Reservation and Delegation and terms of reference for Committees.
The Governing Body monitors this through regular reports from the CCG’s
Accountable Officer and its Committees. These reports cover use of resources and
responses to risk. Furthermore, the Audit Committee on behalf of the Governing
Body considered a mid-year progress report and end of year report from all
committees of the Governing Body. No areas of concern were identified; there is no
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evidence of any internal control failures or poor risk management.
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.
The Committee has been established to enable the members to make collective
decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in
Wakefield under delegated authority from NHS England. In performing its role, the
Committee exercises its management of the functions in accordance with the
agreement entered into between NHS England and Improvement and the CCG.

Counter fraud arrangements
The CCG's counter fraud arrangements are compliant with NHS Counter Fraud
Authorities’ Standards for commissioners: fraud, bribery and corruption. These
arrangements are underpinned by the engagement of a qualified Local Counter
Fraud Specialist (LCFS) from Audit Yorkshire under a formal Service Level
Agreement, (the current LCFS was nominated, trained and approved by NHS Protect
and accredited by the Counter Fraud Professional Board in September 2000); and
the implementation of a CCG wide countering fraud and corruption policy.
The CCG has a team of accredited LCFS’ that are contracted to undertake counter
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.
In January 2020 the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) issued Standards for
commissioners – fraud, bribery and corruption to LCFSs and Chief Finance Officers.
The standards outlined an organisation’s corporate responsibilities regarding counter
fraud and the key principles for action. In May 2020 the LCFS produced an annual
counter fraud plan aligned to the standards.
The CCG’s Audit Committee reviews and approves the annual counter fraud plan
identifying the actions to be undertaken to promote an anti-fraud culture, prevent and
deter fraud and investigate suspicions of fraud. The LCFS also produces an annual
report for the CCG and regular progress reports for the review and consideration of
the Chief Finance Officer and the Audit Committee.
The Chief Finance Officer for the CCG is proactively and demonstrably responsible
for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption and the LCFS regularly attends the Audit
Committee. The CCG has also appointed an officer at the CCG as a Counter Fraud
Champion to assist and support the work of the LCFS.
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The CCG’s counter fraud arrangements are currently in compliance with NHSCFA’s
Standards for commissioners: fraud, bribery and corruption. These arrangements are
underpinned by the appointment of the LCFSs, the introduction of a CCG-wide
countering fraud and corruption policy and the nomination of the Chief Finance
Officer as the executive lead for counter fraud. However, it should be noted that
these standards have subsequently been superseded by the Government Functional
Standard GovS 013: Counter Fraud (Functional Standard), which was formally
introduced in February 2021.
The LCFS completes an annual self-assessment of compliance against the
NHSCFA’s Standards for commissioners: fraud, bribery and corruption, which is
reviewed and approved by the Chief Finance Officer and Audit Committee Chair
prior to submission to the NHSCFA. The 2019/20 assessment for the CCG was
completed and submitted in May 2020 with an overall assessment of green. This
self-assessment process will be undertaken on behalf of the CCG in April 2021
against the new Functional Standard.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL AT NHS WAKEFIELD CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021.
Roles and responsibilities
The whole Governing Body is collectively accountable for maintaining a sound
system of internal control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for
gaining assurance about the effectiveness of that overall system.
The Annual Governance Statement is an annual statement by the Accounting
Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out:
•

how the individual responsibilities of the Accounting Officer are discharged with
regard to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of policies, aims and objectives;

•

the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the
risk management and review processes, including the Assurance Framework
process;
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•

the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control including any disclosures of significant control failures together with
assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues
arising.

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence
required to support the Annual Governance Statement requirements.
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit
(HoIA) is required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work
performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk
management, control and governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of
internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with
management and approved by the Audit Committee, which should provide a
reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations described below.
The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks and assurances
relating to the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of
risk-based plans generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance
Framework. As such, it is one component that the Governing Body takes into
account in making its Annual Governance Statement.

The Opinion
My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Basis for the opinion;
2. Overall opinion;
3. Opinion Definitions
4. Commentary.
5. Considerations for your Annual Governance Statement
6. Looking Ahead

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
•

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance
Framework and supporting processes; and
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•

An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been
reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the
relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses.

•

An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit
recommendations, and the extent to which they have been implemented.

Unless explicitly detailed within our reports, third party assurances have not been
relied upon.

Overall Opinion
Our overall opinion for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 is:
Significant assurance can be given that there is a good system of governance, risk
management and internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and
that controls are generally being applied consistently.

Opinion Definitions
The following potential opinion levels are available when determining the overall
Head of Internal Opinion. These levels link closely with our standard definitions for
report opinions:
Opinion Level
High
(Strong)

Significant
(Good)
Limited
(Improvement
Required)
Low
(Weak)

HOIA Opinion Definition
High assurance can be given that there is a strong system of
governance, risk management and internal control designed
to meet the organisation’s objectives and that controls are
being applied consistently in all areas reviewed.
Significant assurance can be given that there is a good
system of governance, risk management and internal control
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that
controls are generally being applied consistently.
Limited assurance can be given as there are weaknesses in
the design and/or inconsistent application of the framework of
governance, risk management and internal control that could
result in failure to achieve the organisation’s objectives.
Low assurance can be given as there is a weak system of
internal control and/or significant weaknesses in the
application of controls that will result in failure to achieve the
organisation’s objectives.
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Where limited or low assurance is given the management of the Governing Body must
consider the impact of this upon their overall Governing Body Assurance Framework
and their Annual Governance Statement.

The commentary below provides the context for my opinion and together with the
opinion should be read in its entirety.

The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes.
An audit of the Assurance Framework and associated Risk Management processes
has been undertaken in 2020/21 for which a Significant Assurance opinion was
awarded. The audit has confirmed that the Assurance Framework is fit for purpose
and is designed to provide the Governing Body with sufficient and timely assurances
on its system of internal controls to manage its strategic risks. Arrangements are in
place to provide sufficient oversight of the Assurance Framework. The Assurance
Framework as designed in accordance with NHS requirements and meets all the
elements required. The Assurance Framework covers the organisation’s key risks.
The Assurance Framework is a live Governing Body tool and is reported quarterly to
it in line with the agreed timetable. Regular oversight of the Assurance Framework is
also undertaken by the Governing Body sub committees to ensure they have
received sufficient assurances on the strategic risks allocated to them. The
Assurance Framework clearly reflects the impact of COVID-19 on the organisation.
The audit has confirmed that the Clinical Commissioning Group has appropriate and
effective controls in place to ensure that risks are recorded, reviewed, updated and
reported on, with escalation where appropriate and has established clear processes
for reviewing risk registers and for tracking progress on addressing risks. A
recommendations relating to the implementation of assurance and risk deep dives
was agreed, which will further strengthen the current arrangements in place.

The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments,
contained within risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year.
Core & Risk Based Reviews Issued
We issued:
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2 high assurance opinions:

Primary Care Commissioning
Data Security and Protection Toolkit

6 significant assurance
opinions:

Governance and Risk Management
Arrangements
Safeguarding
Covid-19 Cost Revalidation
Continuing Healthcare (CIA Stage 2)
Conflicts of Interest
Financial Systems and Management

0 limited assurance opinions:

N/A

0 low assurance opinions:

N/A

0 reviews without an assurance
rating

N/A

Follow Up
40 Internal Audit recommendations have been live during 2020/21 (this includes
recommendations from previous years’ reports that were still live at 1 April 2020).
During the course of the year we have undertaken work to track the implementation
of Internal Audit Recommendations. The Recommendation clear up summary
2020/21 was as follows:

Overdue

Overdue with
Revised
Date

Not Yet Due

Implemented

Total

% Overdue

2

6

17

15

40

5%

We can conclude that the organisation has made good with regards to the
implementation of recommendations. The vast majority of recommendations are
implemented on a timely basis. There is a small core of recommendations that are
overdue in comparison to their original agreed action date. We can confirm that have
received appropriate support from the Senior Leadership Team in relation to these
and these recommendations have been regularly reviewed by the Audit Committee
throughout the year.
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Consideration for your Annual Governance Statement
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion is one source of assurance that the organisation
has in providing its Annual Governance Statement and other third party assurances
should also be considered. In addition the organisation should take account of other
independent assurances that are considered relevant. We recommend that the
Executive Summary above (page 10) is used in your Annual Governance Statement.
A significant overall opinion has been provided. Attention is drawn to the fact that no
final reports have been issued in 2020/21 with a “limited” or “low” assurance opinion.

Looking Ahead
This opinion is provided in the context that NHS Wakefield Clinical Commissioning
Group like other organisations across the NHS continues to face a number of
challenging issues and wider organisational factors particularly with regards to the
ongoing pandemic response and COVID-19 recovery. The COVID-19 pandemic led
to changes to the NHS financial framework, the establishment of the control and
command structures both regionally and within individual organisations and an
ongoing focus on the emergency response. This has required NHS organisations to
operate in a different way to previous ‘business as usual’ practice. Guidance was
clear that financial constraints must not stand in the way of taking immediate and
necessary action but that there was no relaxation in fiduciary duties.
Bold decision making will continue to be needed as organisations recover from
COVID-19 whilst at the same time maintaining due focus on governance, probity and
internal control. The maintenance of robust financial and organisational control is at
the heart of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion and we will continue to work with the
organisations we serve to provide timely advice and insight throughout 2021/22.
During the COVID-19 response, there has been an increased collaboration between
organisations as they have come together to develop new ways of delivering
services safely and to coordinate their responses to the pandemic. This focus on
collaboration will continue as the NHS progresses on its journey towards integrated
care systems.
Audit Yorkshire has refreshed its planning approach for 2021/22 to take account of
the impact of COVID-19 and the moves towards integrating care. Our plans for
2021/22 therefore focus on post-COVID recovery, on how our work can make a real
difference on Patient Care and on maximising opportunities for sharing knowledge
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and learning. In particular, the strategy we have adopted has ring fenced provision in
plans to carry out co-ordinated audits across all Audit Yorkshire Members and
clients, or at Place, ICS or Sector level. Our plans for 2021/22 leave us very well
placed to support organisations in their delivery of the six key priority areas listed in
the NHS Operational Planning Guidance issued on 25 March 2021.

Helen Kemp-Taylor
Head of Internal Audit and Managing Director
Audit Yorkshire
28 May 2021

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and
internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter
and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its
principles objectives have been reviewed.

Conclusion
I conclude that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Joanne Webster
Accountable Officer
10 June 2021
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report (subject to Audit)
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is authorised to consider and make recommendations
to the Governing Body on behalf of NHS Wakefield CCG about the remuneration,
allowances and terms of service for all members of the Governing Body (with the
exception of lay members, whose remuneration is determined by the Governing
Body itself), very senior managers, and staff not covered by agenda for change.
This Committee only determines the reward package of directors and senior
managers on locally-determined pay, taking into account any national directions or
guidance. The vast majority of staff remuneration is determined in accordance with
the national NHS pay framework, Agenda for Change.
The members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:
• Richard Hindley Lay Member and Deputy Chair (Chair of Remuneration
Committee).
• Richard Watkinson, Lay Member – Audit.
• Stephen Hardy, Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement.
Further details are provided in the Annual Governance Statement section.
The Committee is fully supported and advised by a representative from Human
Resources.
The Committee met on the following dates during 2020/2021:
•

1 April 2020

•

17 November 2020

The Committee considered the following:
•

Review of Governing Body members’ remuneration and staff employed or
providing services remunerated outside of Agenda for Change terms and
conditions.

•

Remuneration Committee Terms of Reference.
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Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The Committee applies best practice in the decision-making processes when
considering individual remuneration. The table below sets out what constitutes the
senior managers’ remuneration policy:
ELEMENT
Base pay

POLICY
The Remuneration Committee ensures senior managers pay
complies with current directions or guidance and on occasions
seeks independent advice. The Committee ensures that
decisions are based on clear and transparent criteria
determined by using benchmarked data in order to attract and
reward the right calibre of leaders.

Pension

Senior managers are able to join the NHS Pension Scheme
that is available to all staff.

On call payment No payments were made to Board members participating in the
on-call rota.
Benefits

Travel
expenses

The Trust operates salary sacrifice schemes including
childcare vouchers and car lease schemes which are open to
all members of staff.
Appropriate travel expenses are paid.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
The review of very senior manager salary values falls under the responsibility of the
Remuneration Committee. During 2020/2021 there were no very senior managers
paid more than £150,000 per annum.

Salaries & Allowances
The remuneration outlined in Table 1 below reflects the amounts received in year for
the period of time worked at the CCG and does not include employer’s national
insurance or superannuation costs.
The individuals listed in the table are either members of the Governing Body and/or
directors/senior members of the Executive Team. These individuals are able to
influence strategic and financial decision making within the CCG.
For staff sharing arrangements, the remuneration report shows the CCG’s share of
the relevant components of remuneration.
Column E discloses the value of pension benefits accrued during the year,
calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less the contributions
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made by the individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any
increase or decrease due to transfer of pension rights.
The value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a
calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of
the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide.
The pension benefit table (Table 2) provides further information on the pension
benefits accruing to the individual.
Factors determining the variation in the values recorded between individuals include
but are not limited to:
• A change in role with a resulting change in pay and impact on pension benefits.
• A change in the pension scheme itself.
• Changes in the contribution rates.
• Changes in the wider remuneration package of an individual.
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Table 1 - Senior Manager Remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
2020/21
(a)
Salary
(bands
of
£5,000)
Name

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest
£100

(c)
Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

(e)
All
pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000
75-80

(staff in post for full year unless
stated)

Title

Notes

£000

Melanie Brown

Director of Commissioning - Integrated Health and
Care

1

50-55

25-27.5

£

Dr Greg Connor

Executive Clinical Advisor

65-70

30-32.5

95-100

Suzannah Cookson

Chief Nurse

90-95

12.5-15

100-105

Dr Debbie Hallott

GP Member

2

Diane Hampshire

Governing Body - Independent Nurse

1

5-10

5-10

Stephen Hardy

Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement

1

10-15

10-15

Dr Clive Harries

GP Member

2, 3

45-50

45-50

Richard Hindley

Lay Member & Deputy Chair

10-15

10-15

Dr Pravin Jayakumar

GP Member

30-35

30-35

2

30-35

30-35

Mr Hany Lotfallah

Governing Body - Secondary Care Consultant

20-25

20-25

Dr Adam Sheppard

Clinical Chair

2, 3

80-85

80-85

Ruth Unwin

Director of Corporate Affairs

1

90-95

17.5-20

110-115

Richard Watkinson

Lay Member - Audit

10-15

Jonathan Webb

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer

120-125

85-87.5

205-210

10-15

Joanne Webster

Chief Officer

140-145

45-47.5

185-190

Wakefield Metropolitan District
Council employees
Andrew Balchin

Corporate Director Adults, Health & Communities to 31
December 2020

4

0

Anna Hartley

Director of Public Health

4

0

Lisa Wilcox

Interim Corporate Director for Adults, Health &
Communities from 1 January 2021

4

0

100

Notes
1

For these senior managers, staff sharing arrangements with other entities were in place. Wakefield CCG's share of the relevant components of remuneration are reported in the table above.
The staff sharing arrangements and total remuneration across all entities are disclosed below.

(a)
Salary
(bands
of
£5,000)

£000

Total remuneration across all organisations
(e)
(b)
(c)
(d)
All
Expense
Performance
Long term
pensionpayments
pay and
performance
related
(taxable) to
bonuses
pay and
benefits
nearest
(bands of
bonuses
(bands
£100
£5,000)
(bands of
of
£5,000)
£2,500)
£

£000

£000

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands
of
£5,000)

£000

£000

52.5-55

155-160

Melanie Brown

50% shared with Wakefield Metropolitan District Council (WMDC)

100-105

Diane Hampshire

Governing body member at Wakefield CCG and Interim Chair of
Wakefield District Safeguarding of Adults Board for WMDC

5-10

5-10

Stephen Hardy

Lay member for Patient & Public Involvement at Wakefield CCG. Also
lay member for West Yorkshire & Harrogate Joint Committee of CCGs

20-25

20-25

Ruth Unwin

10% shared with Mid Yorkshire Hospital NHS Trust

100-105

20-22.5

125-130

2

Local GPs whose roles are within their practices but who were engaged part time in the Governing Body of the CCG. The CCG engagements were contracts for service.

3

These individuals, in addition to being Governing Body members, are also remunerated for clinical leadership sessions. Values disclosed in column (a) are the total amounts of remuneration for all
roles.
The 2020/2021 remuneration within column (a) that is specific to Governing Body duties are as follows.
£000

4

Dr Clive Harries

GP Member

30-35

Dr Adam Sheppard

Clinical Chair

65-70

Employed by the Local Authority and attended CCG Governing Body meetings.
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2019/20
(a)
Salary
(bands
of
£5,000)
Name
(staff in post for full year unless
stated)

Title

Notes

£000

Melanie Brown

Director of Commissioning, Integrated Health & Care

1

45-50

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest
£100
£

(c)
Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

(e)
All
pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

20-22.5

70-75

85-87.5

175-180

Dr Greg Connor

Executive Clinical Advisor

60-65

Suzannah Cookson

Chief Nurse

85-90

60-65

Dr Phillip Earnshaw

Clinical Chair to 30 June 2019

2

20-25

20-25

Dr Debbie Hallott

GP Member

2, 3

30-35

30-35

Diane Hampshire

Governing Body - Independent Nurse

1

5-10

5-10

Stephen Hardy

Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement

1

10-15

10-15

Dr Clive Harries

GP Member

2, 3

50-55

50-55

Richard Hindley

Lay Member & Deputy Chair

10-15

10-15
35-40

Dr Pravin Jayakumar

GP Member

2, 3

35-40

1, 4, 5

70-75

Patrick Keane

Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Officer to 30
September 2019. Acting Chief Officer 12 August 2019
to 31 January 2020

Mr Hany Lotfallah

Governing Body - Secondary Care Consultant

Dr Adam Sheppard

Assistant Clinical Leader to 30 June 2019. Clinical
Chair from 1 July 2019

Ruth Unwin

Director of Corporate Affairs

5,800

75-80

20-25

20-25

2, 3

80-85

80-85

1

90-95

10-12.5

10-15

100-105

Richard Watkinson

Lay Member - Audit

Jonathan Webb

Chief Finance Officer. Also Deputy Chief Officer from 1
October 2019

10-15

6

110-115

100

37.5-40

150-155

Joanne Webster

Chief Officer

6

140-145

100

60-62.5

200-205

Andrew Balchin

Corporate Director Adults, Health & Communities

7

0

Anna Hartley

Director of Public Health

7

0

Wakefield Metropolitan District
Council employees
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Notes
1

For these senior managers, staff sharing arrangements with other entities were in place. Wakefield CCG's share of the relevant components of remuneration are reported in the table above.
The staff sharing arrangements and total remuneration across all entities are disclosed below.
(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
Melanie Brown

95-100

Stephen Hardy

50% shared with Wakefield Metropolitan District Council (WMDC)
Governing body member at Wakefield CCG and Interim Chair of Wakefield
District Safeguarding of Adults Board for WMDC
Lay member for Patient & Public Involvement at Wakefield CCG. Also lay
member for West Yorkshire & Harrogate Joint Committee of CCGs from June
2019

Patrick Keane

30% shared with North Kirklees CCG from 1 April to 30 September 2019

85-90

Ruth Unwin

10% shared with Mid Yorkshire Hospital NHS Trust

100-105

Diane Hampshire

Total remuneration across all organisations
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
Expense
Performance
Long term
All pensionpayments
pay and
performance
related
(taxable)
bonuses
pay and
benefits
to
(bands of
bonuses
(bands of
nearest
£5,000)
(bands of
£2,500)
£100
£5,000)
£

£000

£000

7,000

90-95
10-12.5

The 2019/2020 remuneration within column (a) that is specific to Governing Body duties are as follows.
£000
Dr Debbie Hallott

GP Member

30-35

Dr Clive Harries

GP Member

30-35

Dr Pravin Jayakumar

GP Member

30-35

Dr Adam Sheppard

Assistant Clinical Leader to 30th June 2019. Clinical Chair from 1st July 2019

65-70

6

Taxable expenses were incurred in respect of taxable business mileage.

7

Employed by the Local Authority and attended CCG Governing Body meetings.
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140-145

15-20

These individuals, in addition to being Governing Body members, are also remunerated for clinical leadership sessions. Values disclosed in column (a) are the total amounts of
remuneration for all roles.

Taxable expenses were incurred in respect of taxable business mileage, travel and accommodation.

42.5-45

15-20

3

Acting Chief Officer 12 August 2019 to 12 January 2020 to cover the absence of the Chief Officer.

£000

5-10

Local GPs whose roles are within their practices but who were engaged part time in the Governing Body of the CCG. The CCG engagements were contracts for service.

5

£000

5-10

2

4

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

115-120

Table 2 - Pension Benefits as at 31 March 2021

(c)
Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March
2021
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump
sum at
pension
age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2021
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

0

35-40

0-2.5

2.5-5

Ruth Unwin

0-2.5

Jonathan Webb
Joanne Webster

(a)
Real
increase
in pension
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real
increase
in pension
lump sum
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2020

(f)
Real
increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

(g)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2021

(h)
Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

Name and title

£000

Melanie Brown

2.5-5

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

408

34

463

Suzannah Cookson

0

35-40

105-110

697

28

750

0

0

35-40

85-90

754

26

806

0

2.5-5

5-7.5

40-45

90-95

664

75

769

0

2.5-5

0-2.5

40-45

80-85

670

40

740

0

The table discloses all pension benefits and is not shown as a proportion of remuneration relevant to Wakefield CCG, as reported in Table 1

NHS Pensions Agency has stated that they cannot provide pension benefits
information for Governing Body GPs who are classed only as practitioners with NHS
Pensions Agency, and also where they have a contract for service with the CCG. As
a result the CCG is not able to show the pension benefits related to their role as a
governing body member. The CCG pays over the pension contributions to NHS
England and Improvement who act as the NHS Pension Employing Authority for
these GPs.
NHS Pensions are using pension and lump sum data from their systems without any
adjustment for a potential future legal remedy required as a result of the McCloud
judgement. (This is a legal case concerning age discrimination over the manner in
which UK public service pension schemes introduced a CARE benefit design in 2015
for all but the oldest members who retained a Final Salary design). We believe this
approach is appropriate given that there is still considerable uncertainty on how the
affected benefits within the new NHS 2015 Scheme would be adjusted in future once
legal proceedings are completed.

Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or
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other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are
calculated in accordance with SI2008 No.1050 Occupational Pension Schemes
(Transfer Values Regulations 2008).
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement).
The methods used to calculate CETV changed, to remove the adjustment for
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP), on 8 August 2019. Where an individual was
entitled to a GMP, more likely to affect the 1995 Section than the 2008 Section, this
will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV.
This does not however impact on the real increase in pension benefits, column (a)
and (b) of the above table.

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (subject to audit)
There have been no compensation payments to individuals who were Senior
Managers, in the current or previous financial year.
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Payments to past members (subject to audit)
No contractual redundancy payments were made in 2020/2021. A contractual
redundancy payment was made during 2019/2020 of £160,000 relating to a former
director. In 2019/2020 there are no disclosures in the remuneration report as the
individual was not a Senior Manager of the CCG during this year.

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Wakefield CCG in
the financial year 2020/2021 was £140,000 to £145,000 (2019/2020: £140,000 to
£145,000). This was 3.66 times (2019/2020: 3.65) the median remuneration of the
workforce, which was £38,890 (2019/2020: £38,765).

2020/2021
Mid-point band of highest paid director total remuneration
Median value of total remuneration

2019/2020

£142,500

£142,500

£38,890

£38,765

3.66

3.65

Ratio

In 2020/2021, no permanent employees received remuneration in excess of the
highest-paid director/member.
Remuneration ranged from £3,000 to £145,000 (2019/2020 £10,000 to £145,000).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Staff Report
Our workforce is our greatest asset, their work and the support of our partners is
what enables us to continue to transform healthcare for patients in Wakefield and
beyond, to reduce health inequalities in the district.

Number of senior managers (subject to audit)
Number of senior managers on the Governing Body as at 31 March 2021 is
summarised in the table below:
Pay Band

No. of employees

Senior Managers

3

Of which: Very Senior Managers (VSM)

2

The figures above exclude GPs and lay members who are voting members on the
Governing Body.
Staff numbers and costs (subject to audit)
The table below summarises the average number of people employed by NHS
Wakefield CCG in 2020/2021, calculated on a whole time equivalent basis, together
with the net employee benefits costs. ‘Other’ relates to staff on secondment and
temporary staff.
Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

10,307
919
1,579
30
0
12,835

8,832
910
1,568
30
0
11,340

1,475
9
11
0
0
1,495

Number
139

Number
135

Number
4

Average number of employees for hosted services (West
Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care System and Cancer
Alliance)

74

57

17

Average number of employees (whole time equivalents)

213

192

21

2020/2021
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Average number of employees CCG

Of the increase in gross employee benefits, West Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care System and Cancer
Alliance account for £1.0m.
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Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

8,895
829
1,415
24
248
11,410

7,463
797
1,379
24
248
9,911

1,431
32
35
0
0
1,499

Number
144

Number
131

Number
13

Average number of employees for hosted services (West
Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care System and Cancer
Alliance)

55

39

16

Average number of employees (whole time equivalents)

199

170

29

2019/2020
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Average number of employees CCG

Of the increase in gross employee benefits, West Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care System and Cancer
Alliance account for £1.3m, whilst the employers pension rate increase accounts for a further £0.4m.

Staff composition
The gender distribution for the CCG as at 31 March 2021 is as follows:

Governing Body members
All other senior managers, including
all Very Senior Managers not
included above
All other employees not included in
either of the above categories

Female
6
3

Male
8
2

178

49

Included in the Governing Body members’ numbers above are two members
employed by WMDC, details are included in the remuneration report tables.
Sickness absence data
The sickness absence rate for 2020/2021 is 1.87%.
Staff turnover percentages
The staff turnover rate for 2020/2021 is 11%.
Staff engagement percentages
The staff engagement score from the NHS Staff Survey Results 2020 is 7.7.
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Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations 2017 require
relevant public sector organisations to report on trade union facility time in their
organisations. Facility time is paid time off for union representatives to carry out
trade union activities.
Relevant Union Officials: The total number of employees who were relevant union
officials during 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 was as follows:
Number of employees who were relevant union
officials during the relevant period
2

Full-time equivalent
number
0.42

Percentage of time spent on facility time: The percentage of the employees’ time spent
on facility time was as follows:
Percentage of time

Number of employees

0%
1%-50%
51%-99%
100%

0
2
0
0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time: The percentage of the total pay-bill
spent on paying employees who were relevant union officials for facility time during
2020/2021 was as follows:
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time,
calculated as: (total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) × 100

£1,894.36
£12,835,000
0.01%

Paid Trade Union activities: The time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time was as follows:
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of
total paid facility time hours calculated as:
(total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant
union officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility
time hours) × 100

109

87.7%

Staff policies
We have a range of supportive employment policies for our workforce. All our
policies and procedures are reviewed on a regular basis and EIAs are completed to
enable us to monitor the impact of the implementation of our workforce policies.
EIAs are completed for all relevant policies and we continue to monitor the impact of
the implementation of our workforce policies on all our employees to ensure that any
developments do not adversely affect any particular staff groups.
In line with the requirements of the Equality Act, we are committed to making sure
that equality and diversity are priorities when planning and commissioning local
healthcare. This is equally important in the way we recruit, involve and develop our
staff.
We recognise that to remove the barriers experienced by individuals with a disability,
we need to make reasonable adjustments for our disabled employees. We do this on
a case by case basis and involve occupational health services as appropriate. The
principle of reasonable adjustments is embedded throughout all policies as
described above.

Other employee matters

Freedom to speak up
We continue to work with national guidance to support staff to raise concerns via the
Freedom to Speak Up (Whistleblowing) Policy and have appointed a Freedom to
Speak Up Guardian.

Workplace Behaviour Ambassadors
The role of Workplace Behaviour Ambassador continues to support staff discussing
concerns in confidence about any workplace behaviours including bullying and
harassment.
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Partnership Working Group
The Partnership Working Group is to advise and support the organisation by jointly
recognising the maintenance of effective employee relations, employee engagement
and employment practice through partnership working with employees and Trade
Unions.
The purpose of the Partnership Working Group is to:
• Ensure that the organisation has effective partnership working arrangements in
place in order to consult and negotiate with the workforce and their Trade Union.
• Recognise, develop and maintain the efficiency and success of the organisation in
commissioning healthcare services on behalf of, and to the benefit of, the local
population.
• Promote and maintain mutual trust, respect and co-operation between the
organisation, its workforce and their Trade Unions.

Staff Engagement Group
The recently published NHS people plan has presented us with the ideal opportunity
to rebrand and refocus our existing staff forum. This new approach to employee
engagement and experience focuses on six work stream areas which include
Employee Wellbeing, Living the values and behaviours, Recognition and
Celebration, Employee Journey, Sustainability and Listening to employees.
The group are already starting great pieces of work that underpin these work
streams such as the employee health and wellbeing week, thank you cards and
virtual staff awards.

Staff Awards
The CCG held a virtual staff awards event on 28 January 2021 which was an
opportunity to thank all staff for their hard work throughout the year. The Award
categories this year were linked to the values and behaviours of the organisation and
included awards such as the CCGs Values Champion and Dedication to Patient
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Experience. The awards were an opportunity to recognise those teams and
individuals who have demonstrated the values and behaviours of the organisation.

National Staff Survey 2020
The survey was sent via email to all directly employed staff of the organisation. The
survey is designed to provide insight into opinion on many aspects of employee
experience and engagement. The organisation received an overall 83% response
rate, the results of which will inform the action plan that is formulated with staff
engagement and input.

Health and Wellbeing
The CCG continues with wellbeing initiative “Steps to Wellbeing” to raise awareness
to staff in regard to their own wellbeing and to support a healthy workforce such as
Employee Health and Wellbeing weeks and monthly themes such as Step
Challenges and Mindful March.
In addition to “Steps to Wellbeing”, several initiatives have also taken place
throughout the year as detailed below:
•

We have trained Mental Health First Aiders.

•

Employees have access to an Employee Assistance Programme.

•

We continue to develop a coaching culture within the organisation.

•

Bullying and Harassment Prevention Training is delivered for all staff.

•

An employee health and wellbeing risk assessment and an agile working risk
assessment has been embedded in the CCG to support home working.

•

We have a range of Staff Benefits such as Cycle to Work Scheme with the
limit now increased to £3,000.

•

We are increasing the Electronic Staff Record functionalities to support
managers make decisions with real time information.

•

We have established a Carer’s Staff Network to support carers at work and a
carers passport has been implemented.

•

We offer free flub jabs to our staff on an annual basis.

•

We are a Disability Confident employer.
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•

We have established a BAME Network in driving forward race equality within
our organisation.

•

We communicate to employees on a regular basis including the Chief
Officer’s Vlog, weekly written Staff Update, Extended Senior Leadership
Team Meetings and Staff Briefings with the Chief Officer.

Leadership and Management
Line Management Essentials training was delivered to line managers throughout
2020/2021 to support effective line management skills.

Expenditure on consultancy
Consultancy costs for 2020/2021 are £325k (2019/2020 - £96k). Included in
2020/2021 are £129k of consultancy costs incurred on behalf of WY&H ICS.

Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Length of all highly paid off-payroll engagements:
The table shows all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2021, for more than
£245 per day:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021

3

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

3

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have been subject to a riskbased assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying
the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
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Table 2: Off-payroll workers engaged at any point during the financial
The table shows all off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2020 and 31 March
2021, for more than £245 per day:
Number
No. of temporary off-payroll workers engaged between 1 April 2020 and 31
March 2021

4

Of which...
No. not subject to off-payroll legislation

0

No. subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as in-scope of IR35(2)

2

No. subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as out of scope of
IR35(2)
No. of engagements reassessed for compliance or assurance purposes
during the year
Of which: no. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
review

2
0
0

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
The following table shows any off-payroll engagements of board members and/or
senior officials with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31
March 2021.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

0

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed
"board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility", during the financial year. This figure must include both on
payroll and off-payroll engagements.

18

Included in the numbers above are three senior managers employed by WMDC.
Details are included in the remuneration report tables.
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
Table 1: Exit Packages (subject to audit)
2020/2021
The clinical commissioning group did not agree any exit packages during 2020/2021.
2019/2020
Exit package cost band (including any
special payment element)

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

£s

Cost of
other
departures
agreed

Total
number of
exit
packages

£s

Total cost
of exit
packages

£s

Less than £10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000

1

88,000

1

88,000

1

160,000

1

160,000

2

248,000

2

248,000

£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
>£200,000
Totals

Redundancy and other departure
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Number of
departures
where
special
payments
have been
made

Cost of
special
payment
element
included in
exit
packages
£s

costs are paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS National Terms and
Conditions of Service. Exit costs in this note are reported in full in the year when the
departure was formally agreed, as opposed to the year when the expenditure was
included in the financial accounts. Where NHS Wakefield CCG has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS Wakefield CCG and not by the
NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pensions
Scheme and are not included in the table.

Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures (subject to audit)
The clinical commissioning group did not agree any non-compulsory departures that
attracted exit packages during 2020/2021 (2019/2020: nil).

Joanne Webster
Accountable Officer
10 June 2021
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Wakefield CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report. Disclosures with regard to contingent liabilities, losses and special
payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes within the financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING
BODY OF NHS WAKEFIELD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Wakefield Clinical Commissioning Group (“the
CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and
Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of its income and
expenditure for the year then ended; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by NHS England
with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in England and included in the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2020/21.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”)
and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
Going concern
The Accountable Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they
have not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the
transfer of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded that there are no
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern
period”).
In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the
CCG’s operating model and analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period.
Our conclusions based on this work:
• we consider that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate;
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• we have not identified, and concur with the Accountable Officer’s assessment that there is not, a
material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG
will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud
To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to
commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:
• Enquiring of management, the Audit and Risk Committee and internal audit and inspection of policy
documentation as to the CCG’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud,
including the internal audit function, and the CCG’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether
they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
• Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate reported expenditure as a result of the need
to achieve statutory targets delegated to the CCG by NHS England.
• Reading Governing Body and Audit and Risk Committee minutes.
• Using analytical procedures to identify any usual or unexpected relationships.
• Reviewing the CCG’s accounting policies.
We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any
indications of fraud throughout the audit.
As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet delegated
statutory resource limits, we performed procedures to address the risk of management override of
controls, in particular the risk that CCG management may be in a position to make inappropriate
accounting entries.
On this audit we did not identify a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of the nature of
funding provided to the CCG, which is transferred from NHS England and recognised through the
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity. However, in line with the guidance set out in Practice
Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Bodies in the United Kingdom we recognised a
fraud risk related to expenditure recognition.
We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We performed procedures including:
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• Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to
supporting documentation. These included journals posted by the Chief Finance Officer, journals
posted and approved by the same user, unusual cash journals and journal entries made to unrelated
accounts linked to the recognition of expenditure and other unusual journal characteristics.
• Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party transactions and verifying they had been
accurately recorded within the financial statements.
• Reviewing the completeness of information provided by the CCG as part of the ‘NHS Agreement of
Balances’ exercise to ensure consistency with the information in the accounts.
• Assessing the existence and accuracy of recorded expenditure through specific testing over
purchases from non-NHS bodies and Non- NHS accruals.
• Inspecting a sample of invoices received and payments made before and after year end to
corroborate whether those items were recorded in the correct accounting period.
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material
effect on the financial statements from our general sector experience and through discussion with the
directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), the policies and procedures
regarding compliance with laws and regulations.
As the CCG is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control
environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.
We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.
The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.
The CCG is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation. Under the NHS Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223I1 (3) of
Section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the CCG must ensure that its revenue resource
allocation in any financial year does not exceed the amount specified by NHS England. Expenditure in
excess of the amount specified is unlawful.
We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on
the related financial statement items and our work on the regularity of expenditure incurred by the
CCG in the year of account.
Whilst the CCG is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others where
the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in
the financial statements.
Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation
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Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly
planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in
the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing
standards would identify it.
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible
for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all
laws and regulations.
Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report
together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:
• we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and
• in our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report for the financial year is consistent
with the financial statements.
Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement has not been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2020/21. We have nothing to report in this respect.
Remuneration and Staff Reports
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports subject to audit have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2020/21.
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 51, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view. They are also responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the CCG’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using
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the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body
of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an
auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions
conform to the authorities which govern them.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report if we identify any significant weaknesses
in the arrangements that have been made by the CCG to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 51, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. We are
required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the
CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are
operating effectively.
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We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice and
related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the CCG had proper arrangements in place to
ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use information about costs and
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. Based on our risk assessment,
we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State
and NHS England under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 because we have
reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to
cause a loss or deficiency.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Wakefield CCG, as a body,
in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body,
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Members of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we
have formed.
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Wakefield CCG for the year
ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Timothy Cutler
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,
Chartered Accountants
1 St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3AE
15 June 2021
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NHS WAKEFIELD CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021

Note

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(1,445)
(1,868)
(3,313)

(1,424)
(2,149)
(3,573)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

3
4
4
4
4

12,835
879,475
49
234
3,933
896,526

11,410
631,971
52
62
165
643,660

Net operating expenditure

893,213

640,087

Finance income
Finance expense
Net expenditure for the Year

893,213

640,087

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption
Total net expenditure for the financial year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets
Net (gain)/loss on assets held for sale
Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes
Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve
Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of other Financial Assets
Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets

893,213

640,087

-

-

-

-

-

-

893,213

640,087

Sub total
Comprehensive expenditure for the year
The notes on pages 6 to 29 form part of this statement.

In 2020-21, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, all detailed financial planning was suspended for NHS organisations and
temporary finance regimes were set nationally by NHS England & Improvement. Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were
required to make 'block' payments to NHS providers and the requirements for CCGs to agree contracts with NHS providers was
removed.
The Government issued a mandate to NHS England for the continued provision of services in England in 2020-21 and CCG
allocations were set subject to minor revisions as a result of the COVID-19 financial framework.
From October 2020 to March 2021, system funding envelopes were provided for NHS organisations within an Integrated Care System
(ICS). Wakefield CCG was the Lead CCG and received system funding for NHS organisations within West Yorkshire & Harrogate
ICS. Included in 'purchase of goods and services' is a combined value of £239.9m, which relates to system funding distributed to NHS
providers; these values were agreed by all NHS partners within the West Yorkshire & Harrogate ICS and subject to an agreed
memorandum of understanding governing this arrangement.
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NHS WAKEFIELD CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021
2020-21

2019-20

Note

£'000

£'000

7

76
76

125
125

8
9

1,802
757
2,559

447
2,559
284
3,290

-

-

Total current assets

2,559

3,290

Total assets

2,635

3,415

(55,719)
(832)
(56,551)

(41,573)
(611)
(42,184)

(53,916)

(38,769)

-

-

Assets less liabilities

(53,916)

(38,769)

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(53,916)
(53,916)

(38,769)
(38,769)

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

10

Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11

12

Non-current assets plus/less net current assets/liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

The notes on pages 6 to 29 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 2 to 5 were approved by the Governing Body on 8th June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Joanne Webster
Accountable Officer
8th June 2021
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NHS WAKEFIELD CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021
General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Balance at 1 April 2020
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

(38,769)
(38,769)

-

-

(38,769)
(38,769)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(893,213)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(893,213)
-

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for sale
financial assets)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group expenditure for the financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2021

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(893,213)
878,066
(53,916)

General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

(31,092)
(31,092)

-

-

- (893,213)
878,066
(53,916)

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 1 April 2019
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating costs for the financial year

(640,087)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(640,087)
-

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for sale
financial assets)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

The notes on pages 6 to 29 form part of this statement.
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(31,092)
(31,092)

-

-

-

-

-

(640,087)
632,410
(38,769)

-

-

(640,087)
632,410
(38,769)

NHS WAKEFIELD CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021
2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(893,213)
49
447
757
14,210
(13)
234
(877,529)

(640,087)
52
24
336
7,081
(103)
62
(632,635)

(64)
(64)

(26)
(26)

(877,593)

(632,661)

878,066
878,066

632,410
632,410

10

473

(251)

10

284
757

535
284

Note
Cash Flows from operating activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Movement due to transfer by modified absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other gains & losses
Finance costs
Unwinding of discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities

4
4

8
9

12
12

Cash Flows from investing activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
Net cash inflow (outflow) before financing
Cash flows from financing activities
Grant in Aid funding received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents
Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the financial year

The notes on pages 6 to 29 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the
Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue
to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
In 2020/21, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, all detailed financial planning was suspended and the requirement for CCGs to agree annual
contracts with providers was removed. Instead, all CCGs made regular 'block' payments to NHS providers in line with guidance. This mechanism is
currently confirmed to the end of September 2021.
The Government issued a mandate to NHS England for the continued provision of services in England in 2020-21 and CCG allocations were set
subject to minor revisions as a result of the COVID-19 financial framework. DHSC guidance confirms that it is reasonable to assume funding will
continue to flow on a similar basis for 2021-22.
In determining whether to use the going concern concept, Wakefield CCG has considered the White Paper for commissioning transferring to the new
Integrated Care System organisations from 1 April 2022. As these organisations will undertake commissioning functions, the CCG has determined that
its services will continue to be provided within the public sector.
Based on this position, the CCG has determined that it remains appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group
As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social Care
Group are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department of Health
and Social Care GAM requires the application of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the
period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give
rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.4

Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.
Where the clinical commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts.
The clinical commissioning group has a joint arrangement with Wakefield Metropolitan District Council under 2 separate s75 arrangements: Better Care
Fund and Short Breaks.
The clinical commissioning group also hosts the system transactions and the programme functions for the West Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care
Systems.

1.4.1

Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into pooled budget arrangements with Wakefield Metropolitan District Council in accordance with section
75 of the NHS Act 2006. Whilst the section 75 agreement between the CCG and the Council does constitute a 'joint operation' under IFRS 11, the
substance of the commissioning transactions related to the Fund's spending plan indicates that neither the CCG nor the Council are either a joint
operator or lead commissioner, but are acting as single entities. Therefore, each organisation accounts for its own transactions without recognising its
interest in its share of total assets, liabilities, revenue and expenditure that relate to the whole Fund.

1.5

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the clinical
commissioning group.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.6

Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows:
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding the performance obligations part of a
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding
is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.70

Employee Benefits

1.7.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.7.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in these accounts represents the
contributions payable for the year. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.8

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.

1.9

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.9.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial
control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.9.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most
recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the
reporting date
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.
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1.9.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating expenses.

1.9.4

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
The clinical commissioning group holds no property or plant, only IT equipment. The IT equipment is depreciated over a period of four years on a
straight line basis. At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether
there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.

1.10

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

1.11

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable
approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.12

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk
of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.13

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position
date:
• A nominal short-term rate of minus 0.02% (2019-20: 0.51%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.18% (2019-20: 0.55%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the
Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from
the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.14

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.15

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

1.16

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
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1.17

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost;
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.

1.17.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After
initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

1.17.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1.17.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.17.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance
representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as
the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.18

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18.1

Financial Liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or
loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.18.2

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.19

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.20

Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is pounds sterling and amounts are presented in thousands of
pounds unless expressly stated otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot
exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.
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1.21

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.22

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.

1.22.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
• Materiality – IAS (International Accounting Standard) 8 states that IFRS accounting policies need not be developed or applied if the impact of applying
them would be immaterial or where the benefits derived from the information would exceed the cost of providing it.
• Clinical commissioning groups along with all DHSC group entities must adopt the accounting policies set out in DHSC Group Accounting Manual, to
ensure that the same standards are applied consistently across the group.
• There is no requirement to disclose policies that are irrelevant or immaterial to the clinical commissioning group and so only relevant and material
policies are disclosed.
• The clinical commissioning group followed International Accounting Standard (IAS) 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, in
determining the accounting treatment of provisions.

1.22.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Key accruals with providers where full year information is not available at year end including:
• Key accruals including those associated with continuing care, prescribing and contracts with non NHS providers where full year information is not
available at the time of drawing up the accounts, where a range of possible outcomes exist. The clinical commissioning group has formed a view as to a
reasonable and appropriate estimate at the year-end.
• The clinical commissioning group liaises closely with the Local Authority and other third party suppliers in relation to any estimated charges to ensure
they are as accurate as possible. This is particularly important to pooled budgets including the Better Care Fund and the clinical commissioning group
has worked with the Local Authority via the Connecting Care Executive to receive regular financial reports.
• The clinical commissioning group hosts the Programme Office for the West Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care Systems. Estimates and
judgements are required at year end to account for the clinical programmes funded.
• Estimates and judgements have been made to account for additional Covid funding and expenditure in respect of the hospital discharge programme
and the Covid vaccination schemes.

1.22.3

Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022/23, and the government implementation date
for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
• IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
The application of the Standards would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2020/21, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other operating revenue
2020-21
Total

2019-20
Total

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Income generation
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services

1,445
1,445

1,424
1,424

Other operating income
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations (capital/cash)
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Other non contract revenue
Total other operating income

1,868
1,868

2,149
2,149

Total operating Income

3,313

3,573
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers
3.1.1 Employee benefits

2020-21
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

8,832
910
1,568
30
11,340

1,475
9
11
1,495

10,307
919
1,579
30
12,835

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 3.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

11,340

1,495

12,835

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

11,340

1,495

12,835

Of the increase in gross employee benefits, West Yorkshire & Harrogate Integrated Care System account for £1.0m
2019-20
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

7,463
797
1,379
24
248
9,911

1,432
32
35
1,499

8,895
829
1,414
24
248
11,410

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 3.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

9,911

1,499

11,410

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

9,911

1,499

11,410

3.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits in 2020/21 or 2019/20.
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3.2 Average number of people employed
2020-21

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital
projects

Average number of employees (whole time equivalents) Above
Average number of employees for hosted services (West Yorkshire &
Harrogate Integrated Care System)
Average number of employees CCG

2019-20

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

192

21

213

170

29

199

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

21

213

170

29

199

57

17

74

39

16

55

135

4

139

131

13

144

3.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2020-21
Compulsory redundancies
Number
-

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2019-20
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
88,000
1
160,000
2
248,000

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2020-21
Departures where special payments
have been made
Number
£
-

£
-

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

£
-

2020-21
Total
Number
-

£
-

2019-20
Total
Number
-

£
1
1
2

88,000
160,000
248,000

2019-20
Departures where special payments
have been made
Number
£
-

Analysis of other agreed departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval*
Total

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS terms and conditions of service.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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3.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
3.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March
2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
3.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected
to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the
Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits
caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016
valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this
process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process.
The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced
in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives and reported
to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap
mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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4. Operating expenses
2020-21
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Provider Sustainability Fund
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Funding to group bodies
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Total depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Total provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Grants to Other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Expected credit loss on receivables
Expected credit loss on other financial assets (stage 1 and 2 only)
Inventories written down
Inventories consumed
Other expenditure
Total other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2019-20
Total
£'000

442
176,816
470,271
92,482
68,434
64,017
4
3,077
325
1,750
32
608
66

12,535
66,287
325,160
110
100,910
63,354
58,498
3
1,001
96
1,847
86
1,169
48

38
12
524
97
480
879,475

37
7
485
148
190
631,971

49
49

52
52

234
234

62
62

138
3,348
447
3,933

138
24
3
165

883,691

632,250

In 2019-20 'services from other CCGs and NHS England' includes expenditure from other CCGs, in 2020-21 allocation
transfers have been made where applicable.
Included in 'services from foundation trusts' and 'services from other NHS trusts' is £239.9m system funding.
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS includes additional funding for Primary Care Services in response to COVID-19.
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies' included costs of services commissioned with independent sector
hospitals in 2019-20. In 2020-21, services with the majority of independent sector hospitals were commissioned
nationally in response to COVID-19.
In 2020-21 grants to other bodies includes £3.1m of grants provided to local hospices. In 2019-20, grants of £1.8m were
provided to local hospices and were included in purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies.
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5 Better Payment Practice Code
5.1 Measure of compliance

2020-21
Number

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

9,691
9,506
98.09%

160,333
157,384
98.16%

11,797
11,595
98.29%

163,916
161,753
98.68%

NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

1,140
1,084
95.09%

637,000
635,712
99.80%

3,184
3,115
97.83%

407,350
402,723
98.86%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The CCG made no payments in respect of late payment of debts in 2020/21 or 2019/20.
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6. Operating leases
The CCG has entered into leasing arrangements to secure property for conducting the business of healthcare and associated administration. All arrangements have been assessed individually and
determined to be operating leases with reference to IAS 17.
Rental charges form premises with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases. As rental charges for future years have not been agreed with NHS Property Services
Limited no future minimum lease payments are disclosed in this note.
6.1 As lessee
6.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2020-21
Total
£'000

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000

-

400
400

33
33

433
433

-

433
433

37
37

470
470

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2020-21
Total
£'000

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000

-

-

29
25
54

29
25
54

-

-

28
27
55

28
27
55

6.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Other includes leases for photocopiers and cars leased for the salary sacrifice scheme.
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7 Property, plant and equipment

Information
technology
£'000
347

Total
£'000
347

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Additions leased
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
Cost/valuation at 31 March 2021

347

347

Depreciation 1 April 2020

222

222

Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Charged during the year
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
Depreciation at 31 March 2021

49
271

49
271

Net book value at 31 March 2021

76

76

Purchased
Donated
Government granted
Total at 31 March 2021

76
76

76
76

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests

76
-

76
-

Total at 31 March 2021

76

76

Minimum life
(years)

Maximum life
(years)

4

4

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2020

Asset financing:

7.1 Economic lives

Information technology
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8 Inventories

Total
£'000
447

Balance at 1 April 2020
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Write-down of inventories (including losses)
Reversal of write-down previously taken to the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure
Transfer (to) from -Goods for resale
Balance at 31 March 2021

(447)
-

In 2020-21, the inventories held for wheelchairs and the Integrated Care and Equipment Service were
not significant in value and have been treated as consumed in-year. In 2019-20, these were included
in inventories.
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9 Trade and other receivables
9.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2020-21
£'000

Non-current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
NHS Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding)
NHS Contract Assets
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income

374
50
857
64
177

-

1,736
43
76
406
54
78

-

Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
Non-NHS and Other WGA Non Contract trade receivable (i.e pass through funding)
Non-NHS Contract Assets
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT

280

-

166

-

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership arrangement prepayments and
accrued income
Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables and accruals
Total trade & other receivables

1,802

-

2,559

-

Total current and non current

1,802

2,559

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

-

-

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2020-21
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
24
56
80

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

9.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 1 April 2020
Lifetime expected credit loss on credit impaired financial assets
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 3
Credit losses recognised on purchase originated credit impaired financial assets
Amounts written off
Financial assets that have been derecognised
Changes due to modifications that did not result in derecognition
Other changes
Total

Trade and other
receivables - Non
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
-

20

2020-21
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
72
13
305
390

Other financial
assets

2019-20
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
181
62
81
324

Total

£'000

£'000
-

-

2019-20
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
50
10
236
296
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10 Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 1 April 2020
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2021
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2021

2020-21
£'000
284
473
757

2019-20
£'000
535
(251)
284

757
0
757

283
1
284

-

-

757

284

The NHS England requirement was that the cash balance at 31st March 2021 was less than £1,062k (1.25% of the
monthly February drawdown as per the temporary finance regime guidance) and as such the Clinical
Commissioning Group met its target.
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Current
2020-21
£'000

Non-current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

Interest payable
NHS payables: Revenue
NHS payables: Capital
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
NHS Contract Liabilities
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Non-NHS contract liabilities
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

4,329
1,979
6,836
12,573
135
121
29,746
55,719

-

2,089
1,441
2,509
64
12,080
138
110
23,142
41,573

-

Total current and non-current

55,719

11 Trade and other payables

41,573

Included in ‘other payables and accruals’ are amounts relating to Continuing Health Care, Mental Health, Primary Care and West Yorkshire and
Harrogate Integrated Care System.
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12 Provisions

Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Restructuring
Redundancy
Agenda for change
Equal pay
Legal claims
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Current
2020-21
£'000
224
608
832

Non-current
2020-21
£'000
-

832

Current
2019-20
£'000
237
374
611

Non-current
2019-20
£'000
-

611

Pensions
Relating to
Former
Directors
£'000

Pensions
Relating to
Other Staff
£'000

Restructuring
£'000

Redundancy
£'000

Agenda for
Change
£'000

Equal Pay
£'000

Legal Claims
£'000

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 1 April 2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

237

374

611

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Transfer (to) from other public sector body under absorption
Balance at 31 March 2021

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(13)
224

234
608

234
(13)
832

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2021

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

224
224

608
608

832
832

The continuing healthcare provision was created in 2018/19 for the unresolved previously unassessed periods of care (PUPoC) claims and eligibility appeals. This has been estimated based on information provided by Sheffield CCG, the
PUPoC administrator.
Included in other is a provision for VAT relating to the Lead Provider Framework. HMRC are continuing their assessment with NHS England and Improvement, this provision is based on the value of the contract from 2015/16 to 2019/20. The
remainder included in other relates to claims in respect of employee benefits.
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13 Commitments
13.1 Capital commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no capital commitments in 2020/21 or 2019/20.
13.2 Other financial commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other financial commitments in 2020/21 or 2019/20.
14 Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed
in the trade and other receivables note.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
14.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating
and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial
items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity
or market risk.
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14 Financial instruments continued
14.2 Financial assets

Equity investment in group bodies
Equity investment in external bodies
Loans receivable with group bodies
Loans receivable with external bodies
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2021

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2020-21
£'000

Equity Instruments
designated at
FVOCI
2020-21
£'000

Total
2020-21
£'000

406
89
964
757
2,216

-

406
89
964
757
2,216

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2020-21
£'000

Other
2020-21
£'000

Total
2020-21
£'000

630
17,495
37,338
55,463

-

630
17,495
37,338
55,463

14.3 Financial liabilities

Loans with group bodies
Loans with external bodies
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations
Total at 31 March 2021

15 Contingencies
There were no contingent liabilities in 2020/21 or 2019/20.
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16 Operating segments

NHS Wakefield CCG
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
896,526
896,526

16.1 Reconciliation between operating segments and SoCNE

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

2020-21
£'000
893,213
893,213

16.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP

Total assets reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

Total liabilities reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position

2020-21
£'000
2,635
2,635

2020-21
£'000
(56,551)
(56,551)
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Income
£'000
(3,313)
(3,313)

Net
expenditure
£'000
893,213
893,213

Total assets Total liabilities
£'000
£'000
2,635
(56,551)
2,635
(56,551)

Net assets
£'000
(53,916)
(53,916)
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17 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
17.1 Interests in joint operations

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

Name of arrangement

Parties to the
arrangement

Description of principal
activities

Wakefield Better Care Fund

Wakefield
Metropolitan
Disctrict Council

Implementation of the Care
Act / Integrated Care models

Wakefield
Metropolitan
Disctrict Council

Carers short break service

Short Breaks Services

2020-21
Liabilities

Assets

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

Income

Expenditure

Assets

2019-20
Liabilities

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

-

103,259

103,011

447

-

93,339

93,339

-

-

1,410

1,410

-

-

1,410

1,410

Included in assets in 2019-20 were inventories for wheelchairs and the Integrated Care and Equipment Service. In 2020-21, the inventory held is not significant in value and has been treated as consumed in-year.
17.2 Interests in entities not accounted for under IFRS 10 or IFRS 11
Short Breaks Services
The CCG in association with the Local Authority has established a short breaks service. This led to the creation, in 2015-16, of a pooled budget with the Local Authority as the lead commissioner and provider.
The details of the contributions and expenditure are disclosed below:
Short Breaks Services

Total Income
Total Expenditure
Surplus / (Deficit)

WCCG
2020-21
£'000
1,410
1,410
-

WMDC
2020-21
£'000
2,693
2,688
5

Total
2020-21
£'000
4,103
4,098
5

Total
2019-20
£'000
3,968
3,955
13

At 31 March 2021 the Short Breaks pool had an underspend of £4,549 (2019-20: £12,819)
Wakefield Better Care Fund (BCF)
The CCG in association with the Local Authority has created a pooled budget for the Wakefield Better Care Fund. The CCG acts as the host but either the CCG or the Local Authority have agreed to be lead commissioner for the individual
services commissioned from providers.
The details of the contributions and expenditure are disclosed below:
Better Care Fund

Total Income
Total Expenditure
Surplus / (Deficit)

WCCG
2020-21
£'000
103,259
103,011
248

WMDC
2020-21
£'000
26,163
26,116
47

Total
2020-21
£'000
129,422
129,127
295

Total
2019-20
£'000
121,101
121,101
-

The CCG transferred £15,272k of funds to the Local Authority under the BCF section 75 agreement to commission services from providers.
In 2020/21 two additional schemes were included in the BCF for the Hospital Discharge Programme and Discharge to Assess scheme in response to the Covid-19. The costs are included in the figures above and were recovered from NHSE/I.
The S75 is the legal basis that enables funds to flow between the CCG and LA.
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18 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
Novus Health Ltd - An independent organisation set up in 2007 by the majority of GP practices in the Wakefield district, which provides specific healthcare
services for the population of Wakefield.
For 2020-21 the transactions with Novus Ltd totalled £2,456k, and the creditor balance £27k.
Shareholders of which include:
Dr A Sheppard of Lupset Health Centre and Chair of WCCG
Dr C Harries of Chapelthorpe Medical Centre and Governing Body member of Wakefield CCG
Dr D Hallott of New Southgate Surgery and Governing Body member of Wakefield CCG
Dr P Jayakumar of Trinity Medical Centre and Governing Body member of Wakefield CCG
In each case the practice holds shares in Novus Ltd. The GP member of Wakefield CCG at each practice has been noted above.
Conexus Healthcare Limited - Conexus Healthcare is the GP confederation (groups of GP practices) for all practices in the Wakefield District, which provides
healthcare services for the population of Wakefield as well as developing collaborative arrangements across primary care networks and practices.
For 2020-21 the transactions for Conexus Healthcare Ltd totalled £3,834k, and a creditor balance £389k.
All 37 Wakefield CCG practices are members of Conexus Healthcare Limited Confederation.
Shareholders of which include:
Dr A Sheppard of Lupset Health Centre and Chair of WCCG
Dr C Harries of Chapelthorpe Medical Centre and Governing Body member of Wakefield CCG
Dr D Hallott of New Southgate Surgery and Governing Body member of Wakefield CCG
Dr P Jayakumar of Trinity Medical Centre and Governing Body member of Wakefield CCG
Transactions with GP practices in regard to Co-Commissioning
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from
owed to due from
Payments to Related Related Related
Related Party Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Alverthorpe Surgery
Ash Grove Medical Centre
Castleford Medical Practice
Chapelthorpe Medical Centre
College Lane Surgery
Crofton and Sharlston Medical Practice
Dr DP Diggle and RE Phillips (Church View Health Centre)
Dr SP Singh and Partners (Church View Health Centre)
Eastmoor Health Centre
FMC Health Solutions Limited (Park View Surgery)
Friarwood Surgery
Health Care First
Henry Moore Clinic
Homestead Medical Centre
King's Medical Practice
Lupset Health Centre
Maybush Medical Centre
Middlestown Medical Centre
New Southgate Surgery
Newland Surgery
Northgate Surgery
Orchard Croft Medical Centre
Ossett Surgery
Outwood Park Medical Centre
Patience Lane Surgery
Queen Street Surgery
Riverside Medical Centre
St Thomas Road Surgery
Stanley Health Centre
Station Lane Medical Centre
Stuart Road Surgery
The Grange Medical Centre
Tieve Tara Medical Centre
Trinity Medical Centre
Warrengate Medical Centre
The White Rose Surgery

405
2,574
1,026
2,104
1,795
1,648
856
1,972
377
324
2,212
4,930
1,867
1,286
2,367
2,232
1,855
1,577
2,045
628
2,009
1,604
3,763
2,369
378
451
1,764
1,115
998
1,155
1,337
2,772
1,276
4,112
1,624
4,790

-

-

-

Within the above expenditure are payments to 7 lead practices of Wakefield CCG Primary Care Networks:
Primary Care Network
Brigantes
Five Towns
Trinity Health Group
Wakefield Health Alliance (Central)
Wakefield Health Alliance (North)
Wakefield Health Alliance (South)
West Wakefield

Lead Practice
Outwood Medical Practice
Ferrybridge
Maybush
Ash Grove
Henry Moore
White Rose
Ossett Surgery

The DHSC is regarded as a related party. Wakefield CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with DHSC and with other entities for which
the Department is regarded as the parent Department, or has a degree of responsibility for, including:
NHS England
North of England Commissioning Support Unit
NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups
NHS Trusts
NHS Supply Chain
NHS Resolution
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS Professionals
NHS Property Services
Health Education England
In addition, Wakefield CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.
Most of these transactions have been with Wakefield Metropolitan District Council and Wakefield District Housing Limited.
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19 Events after the end of the reporting period
The are no post balance sheet events after the reporting period.
20 Losses and special payments
There were no losses and special payments in 2020-21. In 2019-20 there was 1 case costing £3k.
21 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
Wakefield CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:
2020-21
Target
896,711
893,398
7,242

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
In all cases the CCG has met its financial performance targets.
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2020-21
Performance
896,526
893,213
7,024

2019-20
Target
646,767
643,141
53
8,049

2019-20
Performance
643,686
640,087
26
7,677

